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Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
Strategic Report (continued)

Business review (continued)

The industry continued to feel the impacts of COVID with iimited parts for new vehicles meaning supply restricted volume even though demand was
there. The wider Volkswagen Group managed direct supply impacts In Ukraine as a result of the conflict in that region however the effects of this are still
Indirectty impacting the wider economy, most noteably through cost increases driven by high energy prices. High costs is one of a number of economic
factors creating challenges for the Company, industry, and wider economy, High interest rates are increasing the cost of funding for the Company, this
has an impact on pricing for customers, many of whom will have been affected by the increases in cost of living which has seen inflation in the UK in
double figures during 2022. The Company has shown in recent years it is well placed to deal with new challenges having successfully navigated through
continued unprecedented times , the Company has shown operational adaptability with hybrid working having been permanently successfully adopted for
many employees, there is continued focus on positive customer outcomes, future development of new products and sales channels to ensure the

Company is well placed for years to come.

VWFS has seen little change in provisions for expected credit loss since the beglnning of 2022 with the expected deterioration in economic conditions
having already been reflected in the provisions at the beginning of the year. While there continue to be concemns caused by economic uncertainty
including high interest rates, inflationary pressures and the higher costs of living, the portfolio Is expected to remaln resilient. This was the case in
previous perlods of economic stress such as the 2008-09 economic recession, which caused financial stress for a significant period. VWFS remains
committed ta supporting people and companies during difficult periods and has in place 3 number of options such as Arrangements to Pay (ATPs) where
appropriate for Individuals, these arrangements continue to be put In place based on affordability and [n the interest of customers.

There continue to be changes In the regulatory environment, in 2023 the FCA Consumer Buty rules and guidance will come into force. These will set
higher and clearer standards of consumer protection across financial services and require firms to put their customers’ needs first, ensuring good
outcomes for customers in relation to products and services, price and value, understanding and support.

in summary, the Company has a strong balance sheet with significant available capital reserves and has reflected the possible expected impacts of the
current and future expected economic conditions within the financiat result for the year, these are also reflected (n the financlal position of the Comparty.
It should however be sald that there remains much uncertainty with inflationary pressures, increased costs, higher interest rates, remaining supply issues
and the continued conflict in the Ukraine, therefore while best estimates of the outcome can be made It’s still a difficult scenario to forecast.

Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Limited



Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
Strategic Report (continued)

NOx issue update

On September 18, 2015, the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) announced in 2 “Notice of Viofation” that Irregularities in relation to nitrogen
oxide {NOx) emissions had been discovered in emissions tests on certain Volkswagen Group vehicles with type EA 189 2.0ltr diesel engines in the US {the
NOx Issue). In this context, the Volkswagen Group announced that discrepancies between the figures achieved in testing and In actual road use had been

identified in around eleven million vehicles worldwide with type EA 189 diesel engines.

Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Limited {"VWFS’) and other Volkswagen Group entities face legal proceedings from a number of firms of solicitors
based in the UK acting on behalf of affected owners or lessees, of which some had financial agreements with VWFS in respect of their vehicle.

On 28 October 2016 one of the claimant law firms representing a number of claimants applied to the High Court for a Group Litigation Order {‘GLY’) for
claims relating to the NOx issue. A GLO, entitled the VW NOx Emissions Group Litigation, was subsequently granted. On 25 May 2022, It was announced
that the Volkswagen Group had reached an out of court settlement in respect of the VW NOx Emissions Group Litigation ending the litigation. The claims
in that group actlon (including against VWFS) were dismissed by the High Court on 25 May 2022. No admissions In respect of liability, causation or loss
have been made by any of the defendants as part of the settlement. The setiement applies to the circa 91,000 daims in the Valkswagen NOx Emissions
Group Litigation. It has no bearing on any other claims in England & Wales or any other jurisdiction.

A number of claim forms have also been issued in England & Wales (and some of them served on VWFS) in respect of daims outside of the settled GLO in
refation to EA 189 diesel englnes. Pre-action correspondence indicates that these claims are similar or identical to those advanced in the GLO. It is not
clear at this stage precisely how many of these claims are being brought against VWFS although It Is expected to be in the thousands (however no claims
will be brought only against VWFS).

There are also 418 EA 189 claims brought in Northern Ireland. Those claims were stayed pending the resolution of the English group action.

VWES continues to dispute the allegations being made in the remaining English and Northem Irish claims and believes that there are good defences to the
claims as it understands them.

Further, Volkswagen Aktiengeselischaft, VWFS and other Volkswagen Group entltles have been notified of other threatened claims in England & Wales in
relation to certain ather diesel vehicles leased or sold In England, Wales and Northern Ireland since 2009 which contain various diese! engine types. No

Claim Form has been served and the claims are uncertain in scope at present.
Resuits and dividends
The results for the year are set out in the Income Statement on page 20,

The profit for the year is £580.4m {2021: £642.5m)
The total assets for the Company increased by 5.96% from £18,041m to £19,117m during the year.
The directors did not proposed a dividend for 2022 (2021: £525m).

As discussed in the business review above, and can be seen in the KPls in the table below, the Company has continued to perform strongly delivering a
strong financial result with gross profit up on last year, Increased advances and 2 consolidated balance sheet position during another unprecedented year

of economlc and social turmoil, and supply Issues.

Volkswagen Financial Services {UKX) Limited



Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
Strategic Report (continued)

Statement by the directors in the performance of their statutory duties in accordance with s172(1) Companles Act 2006

In making decisions throughout the year ended 31 December 2022 the board of directors of VWFS have acted in 3 manner they consider would most ilkely
promote the success of the Company for the beneflt of its members as a whole having regard to the stakehoiders and matters as set out in s172 (1) (a-f) of
the Act. The Company has a clear culture and set of values as set out in the employees section of the directors report on page 11, these are dearly aligned
to and supportive of the strategy of the Company set out in the Strategy section below, while risk management and the policies to protect and support the
effective operation of the business are described within the Financial Risk Management section.

Strategy
As a captive financial services company and sales promoter for the Volkswagen Group, VWFS are committed to enabling the sale and provision of VWG

products and services profitably in the UK market and delivering shareholder value.

Our parent, Valkswagen Financial Services AG, operates in 48 markets through their varlous subsidiaries, shareholdings and joint ventures and with more
than 16,500 employees worldwide and 21.9 million contracts, we ensure that our customers remain mobile and financially flexible every day.

We are making significant steps forward in supporting Volkswagen Groups New Auto — Mobility for generations to come. We continue to develop
products and services along with a strong customer service, to ensure we are at the forefront of supporting our customers regardless of how they choose
to move around in the future. Through our global strategy of Mobillty2030 and our continued drive towards digitalisation we are continuing to put our
customers at the heart of everything that we do. Through Mobllity2030 we are focussing on our people, the potentiaf future world, solutions to offer our
customers Sustainable mobility solutions and driving down our Carbon footprint. We are Implementing new ways of working to reflect a diverse and
inclusive population, using technology to improve our pace and flexibllity and ensuring we have a constant focus on the skills and capabilities of our

people.

Within the UK market we want our customers to enjoy accessible, safe and transparent mobility in their everyday lives. Our goal Is to fulfil this wish with
our purpose being “We help people drive our cars”. We are expanding outside our traditional business model focussed on financing and leasing and
developing new business models to adapt to the market changes and moving towards new mobility concepts. We intend to selectively expand our digital
sales and Interaction channels and ultimately enhance the loyzalty of our customers. Through our Rent-a-car business we offer shart term and flexible
rental solutions and are working with partners to ensure we can offer customers 2 range of products and services to support new mobility concepts.

Using our gulding principles to steer us in all c/rrrmstances, with our significant market share, popular products and services in our traditional business
fields of financing, leasing and fleet and with our focus and progresslon In our new business fields of electrification and mobllity we will continue to be

successful whiist adapting and responding to the significant market changes.
When making its decistons, the Board considers the outcomes of relevant stakeholder engagement as well as the need to maintain a reputation for high
standards of business conduct, and to conslder the long-term consequences of its decisions.

Factoring our stakeholders Into our decision making

When carrying out impact assessments and making key decisions for the organisation It is Important that we understand the needs and concemns of all
stakeholders. This is done through stakeholder impact analysis being completed for all significant decisions that identifies the potential benefits and areas
of concem for each stakeholder group and enables plans to be put in place to mitigate any risks identified and ensure that these are actioned. As an
example, during the recent and ongoing vehicle supply shortage, a new extension product was launched. The impacts the proposed changes would have
to help support our customers, the Company, our retaller network and also our suppliers were all considered and feedback received from the
stakeholders. These stakeholder impact assessments assist directors when performing their duties under s172 of the Companies Act 2006 and provides
the Board with assurance that the potential impacts on our stakeholders are being carefully considered by management when developing plans for Board

" approval.

The key stakeholders identified by the Company are:

- Customers - Customers are central to the strategy of VWFS and the impact on the customer drives all key decision making within the organisation. As
discussed in the strategy section the customer is central to the operation of the Company and its goals. Decisions on product design and pricing take into
account both the existing and future needs of the Customers but also ensures that Customers are treated fairly and consistently. This is achleved through
ensuring regulatory compliance with transparency in product details, and clear and understandable communications. The Enterprise. Risk Committee,
mandated by the Board of Directors, has the remit to embed a clearly articulated Risk cutture that places the customer at the heart of our business.

Volkswagen Financial Services (UK} Limited



Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
Strategic Report (continued)

Factoring our stakeholders into our decision making {continued)

- Suppliers - Suppliers play a key role in the success of the business and the Company. The Company works closely with key suppliers to ensure decision
making considers the impact on them. VWFS has close working relationships with a number of key suppliers. Management and Board members will
regularly conduct meetings and visits to them to promote a positive working relationship beneficial to both parties, this can include involving them in early
stages of significant initiatives, key suppliers are both within and external to the Volkswagen Group.

- Employees - Employees are central to the success of the Company and VWFS has a strong culture that ensures the wellbelng of Its staff is continuously
considered, monitored and supported. This is achieved through regular communication from the Board downwards, a culture that promotes open
dialogue and challenge, an employee forum, employee development programmes, the wellbeing centre, the employee helpline, and policies and a culture
that promotes inclusion and equal opportunities. The detail of all of these areas are discussed in the Employees section of the Directors Report.

- Community and the environment - VWFS supports 2 number of charities through its Community Committee and partners with the Local Hospice to
ensure we are giving back to the community in which we operate. The Company provides opportunities for individuals, small groups or whole teams to
volunteer time to support local charities and operates a Matched funding policy to encourage these activities and contribute greater to the monies raised.
The Company understands It has an impact on the environment. Locally it is taking steps to reduce waste on site at its office locations, limit the use of non-
reusable materlals, encourage recycling and energy conservation. The Company also supports schemes such as ride to work that promote greener
transportation methods, and provides on site facilities to ensure staff can take advantage of them such as electric charging points, changing and bike
storage facilities. In addition the Company is supporting the development of new technologies by the Volkswagen Group for cleaner vehides, both new
models of Internal combustion engines and future generation electric vehicles. This is further discussed in the Climate Change section of the Directors

Report.

When making fts decislons, the Board considers the outcomes of relevant stakeholder engagement as well as the need to maintain a reputation for high
standards of business conduct, and to consider the long-term consequences of its decisions.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Company’s operations expose it to a number of financlal risks which are described below. The Company has In place risk management policies that
seek to limit the adverse effects of the financial performance on the Company. These policies are set by the Board of Directors and Implemented by the
Company’s risk management and operational departments,

Price risk
The Company has no direct exposure to commodity price risk or equity securities price risk.

Credlt risk

The Company has ImpIeAmented policies that require appropriate credit checks and credit scoring on potential customers before finance is granted. The
Company’s risk management and underwriting departments are responsible for continually monitoring the credit risks associated with new and existing
business. In addition they are responsible for appropriate provisioning for credit risk within the financial position of the Company.

Residual volue risk
A residual value risk exists when the estimated sales value of a vehicle at the time of disposal is less than the expected residual value estimated at the time

the contract was written. The Company will be exposed to residual value risk upon the termination of a contract. This exposure can exist on leased assets
or on Personal Contract Purchase (“PCP") contracts where the customer has chosen the optlon to return the vehicle. Risks are quantified regularly by
means of evaluations and analyses on a contract by contract basis. The contracted residual values are compared to attainable market values that are
generated from both the data of external service providers and the Company’s own experlence.

Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Limited



Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
Strategic Report (continued)

Financial Risk Management (continued)

Ligulidity risk
The main liquidity risk to the Company arises from the difference in the nature of the lending undertaken to the customer base and the funds borrowed

by the Company to fund that lending. The business mainly funds customers over a medium-term basis, typically between three to four years, whilst it
raises liquidity over a short and medium-term basis. In order for the business to meet its on-going funding obligations, and for further expansion, it is
necessarily rellant on the continued availability of its funding sources which are described below.

The Company has a number of sources of liquidity, short, medium and long-term funding from Inter-company lenders, funding from the sale of securitised
assets through our ABS programmes, short-term uncommitted bank loans, debt capital market loans arranged via the parent company, and committed
syndicated loan facility. In addition VWFS has a short term overdraft facility in place for operational needs. This combination of funding ensures that
VWFS continues to have sufficlent and diversified funding available even during periods of stress.

The directors manage the liquidity risk by the following methods. Firstly, the Company works closely with the Treasury department of Volkswagen Bank
GmbH (VWB). VWB acts under an Agency Agreement with VWFS with the Treasury functions being undertaken jointly, VWFS focuses predominantly on
operations, whereas VWB Treasury focus on the front office activities and the strategy, sourcing counterparties obtaining quotes and executing for those
trades VWFS identified as necessary. in connection with this source of funding, the directors ultimately rely on the letter of comfort published by VWFS
AG In its financial statements, which confirms that VWFS AG will exert its influence to ensure that obligations to third party creditors are met in the agreed
manner. VWFS AG Group has a balance sheet of €133bn and €18bn of equity, It has a diversified funding structure with access to capital markets, Asset
Backed Securlties and bank borrowings, it has clearly defined liquidity management pollcles and limits across the VWFS AG Group managed by the VWFS
AG Operational Liquidity Committee. Secondly, the Company works, in conjunction with the Treasury departments of the parent and ultimate parent
companies, to ensure that, on an on-going basis, there Is a sufficient availability of third party bank credit lines.

A secondary liquidity risk recognised by the directors is that the funding currently provided by the revolving ABS Master transactions could be withdrawn
at their next renewa! date in November 2023, June 2024 and September 2024. Under this scenario the facilities would amortise monthly to zero. In the
case of withdrawal the facllities would fully reduce to zero over time {approx. 2.5 Yrs.) and the directors belleve that sufficient replacement funds would

be avallable from inter-company sources and unused bank credit lines.
VWFS continuously conducts stress scenarlos ranging from an 'as-is' scenario with little Impact through to a remote high stress scenario where most

sources of funding become unavailable, including those modelling likely impacts in the current economic conditions which have placed greater stresses on
the economy as a whole and created a risk to liquidity for everyone. In ali scenarios VWFS has sufficient liquidity to meet its funding obligations and

expected material plpeline.
The directors believe that the policies outlined above are sufficient to substantially mitigate against the liquidity risk encountered in the on-going
operations of the business particularly given the published support of its sole shareholder.

Interest rate risk
The Company has policies and procedures setting out specific guidelines that must be followed to manage the interest rate risk together with

circumstances where It would be appropriate to use derivative financial instruments to manage this risk.

The Company has both interest bearing assets and interest bearing liabilities. Interest bearing assets include hire purchase and leasing contracts that
mostly earn Interest at a fixed rate over the life of each individual contract, which Is typically three to four years.
The current funding to support this lending, Is malnly through a mixture of short to medium-term inter-group loans, funding from the sale of securitised

assets through our ABS programmes and short-term uncommitted bank loans.

Inter-company loans are mainly of short to medium-term duration and are at fioating rate. The Interest rate risk arising from funding medium-term assets
mainly with floating rate loans is managed through the use of derivative financial instruments, specifically interest rate swap contracts. The use of these
swaps results in a “floating to fixed” interest rate on loans. As a lending institution, increases In funding costs are applied to new underwritten business
where competitive market condlitions allow In order to ensure the sustained profitabifity of the Company. Additionally, the directors comply with the
parent company requirement that a significant majority of the Company’s funding be fixed rate, either directly or through the use of allowed derivatives,
over a medium-term basis.

The interest rate risks bome by the Company are managed as part of a VW AG group-wide treasury and risk management policy. Aithough most
derivatives are designated in hedge relationships at a VW AG group-wide level, there will be some derivatives which are not designated as being in hedge
relatlonships. All falr value movements of derivative financlal Instruments are charged or credited to the Income Statement.

Exchange Rate Risk
The Company operates a branch In the Republic of Ireland. This means the Company has exposure to movements In exchange rates, however the
directors do not fee! this creates a significant risk due to the relative size of the business In the branch. The frequency of transactions being converted to

sterling is reduced by holding a Euro bank account for all recelpts and payments in that currency.
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Operational risk
Processes and procedures are in place which evaluate the operational risks assoclated with processes, personnel, infrastructure / IT and external risks. The

procedures established ensure awareness and determination of assessed operational risks, and the initlation of appropriate counter-measures to avold
such or simllar future re-occurrences.

In addition to ensuring operational risk readiness In a normal environment the Company has robust business continulty plans In place to ensure
operations can continue in a number of scenarios such as a loss of bullding, loss of IT, loss of personne! and with the loss of significant suppliers for certain
periods of time. These plans were tested during the COVID-19 pandemic when VWFS was able to quickly operate with the vast majority of employees
working from home In early 2020 and continue to do so in subsequent years. All key work processes are now completed remotely including those
providing support and services to customers while at the same time security and data protection have remalned key and central to operations.

Non-financial risk management
The Company’s operations also expose it to a number of non-financial risks which are described below. The Company has in place risk management

policles that seek to limit the adverse effects of these risks on the Company.

Competition risk
The main competition risk Is provided by altemative funding providers, typically banks and other finance houses. The directors mitigate competition risk

by the following methods, Firstly, the Company works closely with the Volkswagen Group brands to continue to be thelr supplier of choice for retail
finanding facilities. Secondly, the Company seeks to create innovative and relevant products and services whilst closely monitoring competitor activity In

the market-place.

Reguiatory risk
The Company operates in a highly regulated industry that is constantly changing. Structures, processes and procedures are In pface to monitor and

implement changes In regulation and to provide assurance of ongoing regulatory compliance.

The Company was fully authorised and regulated by the FCA in respect of regulated consumer credit and leasing activities throughout the period. It is also
regulated by the FCA In respect of general insurance business as an intermediary. Volkswagen Insurance Service (Great Britain) Limited (VIS) Is an
appointed representative of the Company, which entails the Company taking regulatory responsiblfity for thelr Insurance mediation activitles. VIS became
3 subsidiary of the Company in 2018. During 2022, VWFS has taken over the insurance mediation activities from VIS, Further detail is provided in note 10.
The Campany is supervised by the FCA in respect of compliance with its anti-money laundering obligations.

There continues to be existing regulation regarding the use of certain fue! typas in a number of cities with many low emission zones in place. In the short
to medium term these measures would most likely lead to an uptake in Alternatively Fuelled Vehicles (AFVs) and non-hybrid AFVs longer term. The sale
of new Internal combustion engines will cease In 2030 and this transition away from petrol and diesel fuelled vehicles will be a risk factor for VWFS in the
coming years however we are confident the relatively short duration of our lease contracts and the commitment of Volkswagen Group to provide
Alternatively Fuelled Vehides (AFVs) will allow the business to adjust its pg;tfollo accordingly. VWFS continues to design and develop new and innovative

products to compiiment these vehicles.

The Company proactively monltors and implements legal and regulatory changes as necessary and regularly assesses and controls its exposure to legat
and regulatory risks through a compliance monitoring programme. This programme includes both UK and (to the extent retained under UK law as a result
of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018) EU relevant legal and regulatory requirements as well as including compliance with FCA rules. All potential
changes to laws and regulations Impacting the Company are captured and implemented through revised policies and procedures as necessary. Regulatory
risks arise through, but are not limited to, the following key requirements: the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000; the Consumer Credit Act 1974 (as
amended); the Consumer Protection from Unfair Trading Regulations 2008; the Consumer Rights Act 2015; the Consumer Contracts (Information,
Cancellation and Additional Charges) Regulations 2013; the retained version of the EU General Data Protection Regulation; the Data Protection Act 2018;
the EU Insurance Distribution Directive; the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002; the Terrorism Act 2000; the Criminal Finances Act 2017; the Bribery Act 2010; the

Competition Act 1998; and the Enterprise Act 2002,

Personnel risk
In order to attract, develop and retain the best human resources, the Company has developed relevant policies and procedures coupled with appropriate

remuneration, training and development opportunities. As per the KP] table below, employee satisfaction levels have improved in the fast 12 months.

Climate risk
Cilmate change presents both a risk and opportunity for the Company. The development of environmentally cleaner technolagles by group companies is

an opportunity for VWFS to develop new products and customer relationships which will be further enhanced through digital developments. This Is
however a significant change, and there will be risks, existing vehidles will no longer be desired as they once were or permitted as a result of regulatory
change. The Company will need to be ready with new products, what was successful in the past may not be relevant in the future. Globally VW has one of
the largest worldwide investment programs of any corporation to ensure readiness for this change and VWFS Is already developing new products to

support this.
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Key Performance Indicators

The Company monitors certain aspects of its performance through five indicators set out In the table below:

Definftlon, method of calculation and anaiysls

2022} 2021
Finance penetration % 52.6% " 51.0%| This is the percentage of total Volkswagen Group new vehicle registrations
_ funded by the company.
Finance cases - units 361,022 345,669 This is the total number of new contracts funded In the year.”
Advances - £m 8,799 " 8,008]This is the total value of new contracts funded in the year.’
Operating Profit - Em 6562.8} 695.4|This is the annual operating profit of VWFS before taxation charges.
Employee Satisfaction % 84.0% 83.1%]The leve! of satisfaction is measured based on an employee essentlals
mdicator calculated from employee responses to questlons inan annual
global engagement survey

Performance against financial KPls is discussed within the business review section above.

On behalf of the board

JeaA ok

Jean Smith
Chief Financial Officer
09 june 2023
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Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
Directors' report

The directors present their report, and the audited company financial statements, for the year ended 31 December 2022. These have been prepared in
accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (FRS 101) and in accordance with applicable accounting standards.

Future Developments
As discussed in the Strategic Report the Company will further embed its aim of “We help people drive our cars®. To do this effectively the Company is

developing new products and services which combined with strong customer service enables customers to be supported regardless of how they choose to
move around in the future. This compliments and enables VWFS to support the Volkswagen Group vision of mobllity for generations to come, through
strategic themes and initiatives. This will be achleved through focus on digitallsation, eMobllity, Customer Experience and Fleet while the Fit for the
Future programme ensures wefecus on driving a sustainable business that puts the customers at the heart of everything we do.

Dividend
The directors have not proposed or paid a dividend for 2022 (2021: £525m).

Political and charitable donations :
The Company has made charitable donations in the year of £117,842 (2021: £107,750), primarily to the Willen Hospice.

The Company made no political donations in the year (2021: £nil).

Directors and directors' Interests
The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report were as follows:

J Smith

M Todd

J Ebert

A Bandmann {terminated on 12 August 2022)
J Legenbauer (appointed on 12 August 2022)

None of the directors held beneficial interests in the share capita! of the Company as at 31 December 2022 {31 December 2021: none).

Financlal Risk Management
The Strategic Report on pages 3 to 10 contains disclosures and commentary relevant to the financial risk management policies of the Company.

Employees

The Company has a strong culture that focuses on creating an environment where our people are engaged, want to do their best and reach their
potential. We place great emphasis on cur Company values and the VWFS UK Gulding Principles, to ensure that our employees first of all understand
them and their Importance in shaping the way we do business and then through continuous education and discussion, ensure we empower our
employees to live these, The global Togetherdintegrity (T4!) programme was launched in 2019 and is centred on developing standards of behaviour right
across the Volkswagen Group, promoting integrity and openness, while valuing diversity and being responsive, particularly to misconduct. In the UK, the
programme has given us the opportunity to review our standards and processes as well as ensuring that all our colleagues are engaged, understand thelr
responsibilities and feel able to contribute. Annual workshops with employees are designed to acknowledge the positive impact and changes that T4l has
achleved, as well as assess the perceptlon of employees about how integrity and compliance are being sustainably embedded. All our managers attended
Integrity Skills training in 2022 which provides a framework for ethical decision making again highlighting the importance of integrity.

Through our Employee Forum we share business performance, news and updates, and share with the representatives context around business changes,
seeking their input and feedback to ensure that our empioyees have genuine Involvement and an opportunity to contribute to the success of the
organisation. We seek to engage with our employees through a range of communication channels including our internal Intranet site FS.NET to share a
broad range of information about our business and the Industry, keeping colleagues up to date with the financlal and economic factors that affect the
performance of the Company. There has been considerable investment In collaboration tools over the last 2 years, namely in Microsoft Teams
functionality, which allows colleagues to speak freely and host online meetings across the business, both lacally and internationally.

in addition, the Company provides regular updates through corporate communications on email to all employees on any matters and issues of concern,
and All Staff Updates are hosted by the Board of Management throughout the year that ensure the communication of the strategy and direction of the
Company, highlight areas of key focus and enable employees to ask any questions. Employees' individual objectives are aligned to those of the
organisation and performance assessed aralnst these annuallv with a direct link to the annual pav review and discretionarv bonus award.

Furthermore, departments regularly have ‘team huddles’ designed to bring together, engage and motivate team members. Employees can thank each
other through our colleague recognitlon scheme which is fully aligned to our Company values and aims to recognise colleagues who have gone the extra
mile.

As a group we endorse and participate in an annual global engagement survey (Stimmungsbarometer). Colleagues in the UK are invited to respond to a
series of questions on a range of topics and we use the results to understand how our peaple are feeling and to track and measure engagement levels
with a focus on action planning for continuous improvement and to support change across the organtsation.
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Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
Directors' report (continued) ’

Reward and Benefits Provision

We have a market competitive total reward package which includes a basic salary, an annual discretionary bonus scheme, private medical cover, group
income protection insurance, pension scheme, life assurance, critical illness cover, as well as ancillary beneflits such as holiday purchase, a Give as You
Earn Scheme a cycle to work scheme and access to our employee car schemes. We also provide colleagues with access to a discounted shopping scheme
where they can save money on purchases at a variety of high street and online retall outlets. For the second time our welibeing offering has been
recognised by Great Place to Work as 2 centre of Excellence In Wellbeing and our on premises wellbeing centre provides health assessments,
physiotherapy, occupational health support, monthly seminars, health education and lots more. We provide a 24/7 Employee Assistance Programme
which is available to all employees and their immediate family members covering a range of subjects, which continues to be well utilised.

Equal Opportunities and Attraction

The Company operates an equal opportunities policy and is committed to offering opportunities to employees or potential employees regardless of their
age, disablfity, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnerships, race, refigion & belief, sex or sexual orientation. All employees are
encouraged to complete their diversity information to enable us to monitor the Company’s demographic profile and transparently publish an annual

internal report of the findings with colleagues.

Internal and external applicants for employment or promotion will be assessed objectively against the requirements for the role, taking account of any
reasonable adjustments that may be required to support candidates with a disability. If an employee considers that they are affected by a disability, or
any medical conditlon which affects their ability to undertake work, they should inform their line manager and the Company will explore any support or
adjustments that could be made. We include questions about values and integrity In all interviews and the candidate’s responses form a key part of any
hiring decision. We also take a focused approach with our hiring managers to minimise bias in decision making throughout the selection process.

We have progressed 2 number of new Initiatives to ensure our business Is focused on being as diverse and indusive as possible. Examples include
launching a podcast to encourage open discussions about diversity related topics, undertaking a review of our famiy related policy provisions to ensure
that the support offered to parents and carers Is appropriate and aligned to evolving employee expectations and Introducing networking groups to
promote inclusion in underrepresented areas. We are also working with an external consultancy business, EW Group, to develop a diversity and inclusion
strategy, linked to our overall business strategy, to drive action and improve indusion aligned to employee feedback and regulator expectations. Our
people play a key rofe in improving inclusivity so to help them better understand the part they play in removing bias, encouraging colleagues to be their
authentic selves and providing equal opportunity, we have refreshed our mandated elearning offering and will be developing ‘inclusive leadership’

education for all people managers.

Learning & Development

The Company promotes a culture of learning and development where colleagues are encouraged to take responsibility for thelr personal development
and develop themselves proactively alongside the Company supporting their ongoing career development and providing opportunities for promotion and
career progression. The concept of ‘resources, not just courses’ is adopted, with a growing library of learning assets, which colleagues can access on
demand covering a broader varlety of learning needs. Learning content varles from role specific training, professional development through external
bodies (e.8. CIMA, ACCA etc), behavioural upskiliing, as well as management and leadership development. Varlous digital tools are provided to support a
range of methods of learning access, the key one being ‘Linkedin Learning’. This is available to all cofleagues and aflows thousands of topics to be explored
and accessed at the touch of a button, The method of leaming deployment 1s varled and we provide a blended solution to develop the skills and

behaviours needed to achieve high performance and to maximise the potential of our people.

Learning and development requirements are captured as part of our annual performance appralsal process as well as being reviewed regularly to check
for ongoing suitabiiity and value-add. There is a focus on continuous development and personal growth and line managers are encouraged to have regular
conversations with their people about development. Employees are encouraged to play an active role in identifying their own learning needs, selecting
appropriate leaming methods and In assessing the outcomes and effectiveness of any learning undertaken. As part of the annual development planning
cycle, the Learning & Development function overlay the wider business obectives and priority areas of skill development to ensure there are appropriate

interventions to support business success.

Individuals who join our business are supported through our structured 'Licence2Start’ Induction programme. The induction is in two parts, digital and
face-to-face. The digital induction helps new employees gain valuable insight into our business and navigate key information to help them early on in their
tenure. The face-to-face Induction Is delivered every 6 weeks and goes Into mure detail about our business and its key functions to ensure new starters
better understand the business within which they arc working. It is also a great opportunity for new employees to meet colleagues from across the
business supporting them to quickly settle into our organisation and their new role. In addition to our Company induction, there Is specific departmental
and technical training delivered locally by the relevant business areas.

Our learning management system, The Learning Zone, provides access for employees to book directly on to our Licence2 courses, access materials,
resources and online courses on a wide variety of business topics. This has recently been rebranded and the user experience improved, to make it even
easier to navigate the platform and access key Information. This approach supports our philosophy of creating a positive learning environment and
encouraging employees to take responsibility for thelr personal development, It also ensures that employees have the relevant knowledge, skills and
expertise at their fingertips, in order to perform their roles and achieve their full potential. ’
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Directors' report (continued)

Cimate Change

The VWFS approach to environmental management is intended to be a transparent and continuous process of improvement that is understandable for
customers within the context of both the Corporate Social Responsibility Strategy and the sustainable development of the Volkswagen Group. Compliance
with all relevant legal and administrative regulations and a cooperative Interaction with our stakeholder groups is for us a matter of course.

Taking ecologicat responsibiiity is a key component of our corporate conduct and a cornerstone of our business operations. We are convinced that we
have an obligation to create added value for our customers, employees and investors and to live up to our responsibility towards the environment and
society. That is why “We care about our environment and sustainability” Is one of our gulding principles. Our guiding principles steer us in all
circumstances, irespective of changes In our goals, strategles, type of work or management. Volkswagen Group is committed to complying with the
United Nations’ Paris Agreement. The goal Is to become a company with a carbon-neutral footprint by 2050. As early as by 2025, the Group plans to
reduce the total life-cycle greenhouse gas emissions from passenger cars and light commercial vehicles by 30% compared to 2015. In addition, the Group
has set 2 decarbonisation target confirmed by the Science Based Targets initiative (SBTI), which envisages a reduction of 30% from 2018 to 2030 without
offsetting.

VWFS UK are focussed on driving down our Carbon footprint as well as ensuring we reduce our Impact in many areas of environment. We are taking steps
to reduce waste on site at its office locations, limit the use of non-reusable materials, encourage recycling and energy conservation. The Company also
actively develops green travel plans which encourage riding to work, an internal EV and e-bike booking scheme along with on-site facllities to ensure staff
can take advantage of them such as electric charging points, changing and bike storage facilities. We progress sustainable mobility solutions for our
customers ensuring we have products and services to promote the move to Electric cars, car sharing and enabling customer to have short term use of cars
as well as our more traditional Finance products.

Climate change presents both a risk and opportunity for the Company. The development of environmentally cleaner technologles by group companies is
an opportunity for VWFS to develop new products and customer relationships which will be further enhanced through digital developments. This is
however a significant change, and there will be risks, existing vehicles will no longer be desired as they once were or permitted as a result of regulatory
change. The Company will need to be ready with new products, what was successful in the past may not be relevant in the future. Globally VW has one of
the largest worldwide investment programs of any corporation to ensure readiness for this change and VWFS is already developing new products to

support this.

Energy Efficient Actions

In addition to the commitments ta climate change described above the Company employees are able to work on a hybrid basls, this is part of ongoing
initiatives around flexible working that the organisation has been rolling out to all employees in recent years. To enable this the Company has invested in
the technology to enable all employees to be able to work from remotely where appropriate, and encourages the use of technology to support this such
as video conferencing. These initlatives will reduce the need to travel on a dally basis for many employees and limit the amount of business travel for
offsite meetings. Furthermore the Company is encouraging and making electric vehicles available for employees, this will also Include future investment
In further charging faciiities for EVs. Finally the Company continues to use and generate solar electricity at its main site.
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Directors' report (continued)

Streamliined Energy and Carbon Reporting

VWFS reports greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions In accordance with the Companies (Directors' Report) and Limited Uability Partnerships (Energy and
Carbon Report) Regulations 2018. VWFS follows the HM Government Environmental Reporting Guidelines {March 2019) and has defined the streamlined
Energy and Carbon Reporting as all energy use and carbon emissions from its operations in the United Kingdom where VWFS maintains financial control.

The table below summarises the energy consumption and CO2 emissions of the Company.

2022 2022 ' 2021 2021
Energy €02 Emissions Energy €02 Emissions
Consumption Consumption

kWh tco2 kWh tco2
Scope 1 Energy/Emissions
Natural Gas 1,281,059 234 1,993,687 365
Business Owned Transport 408,076 114 111,874 31
Total Scope 1 Energy/Emissions 1,689,135 348 2,105,561 396
Scope 2 Energy/Emissions
Electricity 2,163,071 q18 1,974,198 419
Total Scope 2 Energy/Emissions 2,163,071 418 1,974,198 419
Intensity Metric 2022 2021
Revenue £m 2,414 2,702
tCO2 per £m 0.32 0.30

Scope 1 emissions are generated from the gas used in the main operational bulldings of VWFS in the UK. The emissions are those generated from the use
of company vebicles on company business in the UK, -

Scope 2 emissions are generated from the use of electricity in the same UK premises as In scope 1.
The reporting perlod for GHG emissions runs from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022. Conversion factors are from the UK Government's 2022

Conversion Factors for Company Reporting document.

Transport emissions were compiled using actual mileage recordings in 2022. Energy usage in buildings is taken from meter readings at the premises
except for one |ocation where the utilities usage is included within the rentals, in this Instance an estimate was made based on occupled floor space.

Branches outside the UK
The Company maintalns a branch in the Republic of Ireland as part of normal business.
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Corporate Governance

The Company has continued to follow its existing Corporate Governance structure, policies and procedures throughout the year since these are already
aligned to the best practice principles, these are summarised as follows: .

Through the leadership of the Board of Directors (BoD) a clear understanding of the Company's purpose, strategy, culture and values are established.
These are then cascaded and embedded In the organisation through policies, committees, and formal and informal communications. They are visible
across the organisation and consistently applied across all departments, this Is achieved through dear, consistent and regular communication to all
employees. The BoD are then accountable to the Board of Volkswagen Financial Services AG and report to the shareholders of the parent company
Volkswagen Finance Overseas B.V. The Management Board of Volkswagen Financial Services AG are responsible for approving the remuneration of the

directors.

The Company operates through a clear governance process consisting of the Board of Management {BoM) and committees, which have clear terms of
reference, there are then policles and procedures that apply acrass the organisation. The BoM is entrusted by the BoD with the general management of
the Company with the exception of the determination of strategic, general policy and direction of the Company and the matters reserved to the BoD or
VWEFS AG. Matters of fundamental significance to the Company (including those that require BoD approval) must be agreed by both the Chlef Executive
Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO). The appointment of members of the board is made with due care and consideration for the needs of the
business and persons appointed have the appropriate levels of skill and experience to ensure it can achieve its strategy and objectives.

The BoM acts in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations, the Company’s articles of association, shareholder resolutions and directives and the
requests and instructions of uttimate parent company, Volkswagen AG, and in accordance with the delegated authority of the BoD.

The members of the BoM collectively assist and direct the development, implementation and promotion of the Company’s vision, mission, strategy,
values, risk appetite and behaviours, and In doing 5o act in the way to promote the success of the Company for the benefit of its employees, customers
and other stakeholders in both the short and long term. This includes ensuring that appropriate resources and controls exist for the organisation to
operate effectively and in Jine with its risk appetite.

The BoM is responsible for ensuring that the Company malntain and operate within an appropriate governance framework {i.e. relevant to the Company’s
business, reputation, the materiality of the risks inherent and the relative costs and benefits of implementing spedific controls}, to ensure the
management and oversight of risks, effective and efficlent operations and delivery, appropriate Intemal, financial, performance/delivery and other
controls, compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and other appropriate {e.g. industry) standards. The BoM ensure that the Company operates with
reference to the risk appetite determined by the BoD and this is embedded at a strategic level within the business and that the responsibilities and
communication channels are in place to and from the Enterprise Risk Committee (ERC) to ensure key risk measures are in place and monitored by the ERC
in accordance with the Company’s Enterprise Risk Management Framework.

The ERC is one of several committees In place across the organisation to ensure that appropriate operatlonal governance exists to support the purpose
and strategy of the Company. All committees have clearty defined scope, accauntability and duties. The ERC is a mandated sub-committee of the BoD to
which it will report on a regular basis and its authority extends to all matters relevant to the Company. The Board continue to review and update the
governance structure to ensure it is relevant and approprlate for the operational needs of the organisation and to support the achlevement of the

Company's strategy.

Statement of engagement with suppliers, customer and others in the business refationship with the company

In making decisions throughout the year ended 31 December 2022 the board of directors of VWFS have acted in a manner they consider would most likely
promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members as 8 whole having regard to all stakeholders, details of this can be found in the
Factoring our stakeholders inta our decision making section within the Strategic Report and the Employees section ahove,

Directors' confirmations

In the case of each director in offlce at the date the Directors’ Report is approved:;

» so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the group and company’s auditors are unaware; and

» they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director In order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to

establish that the group and company’s auditors are aware of that Information.

Directors’ indemnities

As permitted by the Articles of Assoclation, the Directors have the benefit of an indemnity which is a qualifying third party indemnity provision as defined
by Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. The indemnity was in force throughout the last financial year and is currently in force. The Company also
purchased and maintained throughout the financial year Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance in respect of itself and its Directors.

Auditors' independence
During the year the external auditors' did not provide any non-audit services. Auditors' objectivity and independence is safeguarded because all non audit

services are always subject to tender, the VWAG policy about commissioning of audit firms and audit networks and ensuring where there are any non-
audtt activities being performed they conducted by members of auditors’ staff not Involved in audit activity.

independent auditors
The directors intend to pass a resolution to reappoint Ernst & Young LLP as the Statutory Auditor for 2023.
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Statement of Directors' Responsibliities In respect of the financial statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annuai Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each finandial year. Under that law the directors have prepared the company
financlal statements in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (FRS 101) and in accordance with applicable
accounting standards. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfled that they give a true and fair
. view of the state of affairs of the group and company and of the profit or loss of the group and company for that pericd. In preparing the financial

statements, the directors are required to:

» select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

o state whether applicable accounting standards have heen followed for the company financial statements, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financdial statements;

e make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

» prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless It Is Inappropriate to presume that the group and company will continue In business.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

Tha directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficlent to show and explain the Company's transactions and disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financlal position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006, )

Golng Concern
The Company’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, its financial position, financial risk management
objectives, detalis of its financlal Instruments and derivative activities, and its exposures to price, credit, liquidity and cash flow risk are described in the

Strategic Report on pages 3 to 10.

In determining the appropriateness of the Going Concern basis for the preparation of the annual reports and accounts the directors have assessed a
period from the date of signing the accounts untll 9 June 2024, The assessment considered a number of key factors, namely, accessibllity of funding and
levels of liquldity, capital reserves, forecasts of business performance and asset risk. Management considers accessibility to liquldity the most significant
risk to the business. When considering whether the Company has access to sufficient levels of funding the directors considered a number of scenarios, as
is, cautious, downside and an extreme stress scenarlo. In alf instances the Company has sufficlent liquidity headroom up to and including 9 June 2024,

After making these assessments, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the golng concern basis in preparing the annual report and accounts.

On behalf of the board

RSN ON

Jean Smith
Chief Financial Officer
09 June 2023
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Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
Independent Auditors’ Report to the members of Volkswagen Financial Services (UK)

Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Limited- for the year ended 31 December 2022 which eomprise‘the’

Income Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Statement of changes in equity and the related notesl to 28, including a summary of significant accounting
policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation Is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards
Including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

« give a true and fair view of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of its profit for the year then ended;

* have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

» have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companles Act 2006.

Basls for opinion '
We conducted our audit in accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK) {ISAs (UK)) and applicable faw. Our responsibllities under those

standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the
company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the finandal statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical
Standard as applied to other entities of public interest, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We belleve that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Concluslons relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financia!
statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
incduded:

» Understanding the directors’ going concern assessment process;

* Assessing and challenging key factors relevant to the assessment that had been considered by the directors;
¢ Evaluating the reasonableness of key assumptions induded In the directors’ going concern assessment, including the consideration af business and

strategic plans, capital, llquidity and funding positions, non-compliance with laws and regulations and litigation;
= Assessing the reasonableness of the stress tests performed by the directors, and validating that they included consideration of current and emerging

risks, including the impact of the supply chain Issues, inflation and the cozt nf-living crisis In the UK;
= Performing enquiries of management and those charged with governance to identlfy risks or events that may impact the company'’s ability to continue
as a going concern. In addition, we read minutes of meetings of the Board and certain of its sub-committees to assess whether there were any other

matters discussed that may have an impact on the company’s ability to continue as a going concemn; and
¢ Reading the company’s going concern disclosures In order to assess that the disclosures were appropriate and in conformity with the reporting

standards.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not Identlfied any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively,
may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least 12 months from when the financial statements

are authorised for issue, up to and including 9 June 2024.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report. However,
because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the company’s abllity to continue as a going concern.

Other information
The other information comprises the Information included in the annual report, other than the financlal statements and our auditor’s report thereon, The

directors are responsible for the other Information contained within the annual report.
Our apinion on the financlal statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do

not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility s to read the other informatlon and, In doing so, consider whether the other information is materially Inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
Inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are regquired to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other Information, we are

required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report In this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

in our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
* the information given In the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the finandal statements are prepared is consistent

with the financial statements; and
¢ the strategic report and directors’ report have been prepared In accordance with applicable legal requirements.

¢

Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Limited
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the members of Volkswagen Financial Services (UK)

Limited (Continued)

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

in the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material
misstatements in the strategic report or directors’ report. '

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

» adequate accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

« the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

¢ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

= we have not recelved all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 16, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and falr view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financlal statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concem, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concem and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors elther Intend to liquidate the company

or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financlal statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but Is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs {UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are consldered material if, Indlvidually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on

the basis of these financial statements.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irvegularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibllities, outlined
above, to detect Irregularities, including fraud. The risk of not detecting a matertal misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion, The
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregutarities, including fraud is detailed below. However, the primary responsibliity for the
prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with governance of the entity and management.

* We obtained an understanding of the legatl and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the company and determined that the most significant
relate to the reporting framework (FRS 101 and the Companies Act 2006), the relevant direct and Indirect tax compliance regulation In the United
Kingdom, the Consumer Credit Act 1974 and the license conditions and the supervisory requirements of the Financia! Conduct Authority (FCA). We
understood how the company is complying with those frameworks, by making inquiries of management, internal audit and those responsible for legal and
compliance matters. We also reviewed correspondence between the company and regulatory bodies, reviewed minutes of the Board and Risk
committees and gained an understanding of the company’s governance framework.

¢ » Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify noncompliance with such laws and regulatlons. Our procedures involved
making Inquiry of those charged with governance and senior management as to their awareness of any non-compliance of faws or regulations, and the
extent of any potential outflow as a result of any non-compliance, inquiring about the policies that have been established to prevent non-compliance with
Iaws and regulations, inquiring ebout the company’s methods of enfaorcing and monitoring compliance with such policles, reviewing the complaints log,
Inspecting slgnlﬂcént correspondence with the FCA and, where necessary, engaging intemnal speclalists.

* We assessed the susceptibility of the company’s financiel statements to material misstatement, induding how fraud might occur by considering risk of
management override and by assuming revenue, specifically revenue from service and maintenance contracts and topside adjustments to revenue, to be
subject to fraud risk. We considered the controls the company has established to address the risks Identified by the directors or that otherwise seek to
prevent, deter or detect fraud, including in @ remote-working environment; and how management monitors these controls. Our audit procedures also
incduded testing a sample of manual journals to verify the transactions were appropriate and supported by source documentation. We also tested the
recognition of service and maintenance income by verifying a sample of the performance obligations and recalculating the revenue recognised, including
assessing a sample of the cost input assumptions in the calculation of the revenue recognised.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financlal Reporting Council’s website at https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibllities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Limited
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Limited (Continued)
Use of our report .

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has
been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s

members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Lende £ ‘{owxau-f

Helen Joseph {Senlor statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor

London
|1 Jwne 2623

Volkswagen Financial Services (UK} Limited

19



Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021
£000 £000
Revenue 2 2,413,773 2,701,918
Cost of Sales 3 (1,564,030) {1,896,239)
Gross profit 849,743 805,679
Distribution Costs 5 {44,798) {40,782)
Administration Costs 5 (122,562} (93,458)
Other Operating Income 5 39,116 62,512
Other Operating Costs 5 (72,487) (38,585)
Operating profit 649,012 695,366
Finance gain [ 127,138 90,386
Impairment on investment In subsidiary 10 . (3,564)
Profit before tax 776,150 782,188
Taxation 9 (195,770) (139,645)
Profit for the year 580,380 642,543
Other comprehensive {expense)/income:
Items that will not be reclassified to the profit or loss
1,169 1,173

Actuarfal galn on defined benefit penslon plans 24

Tax on (expense)/income recognised directly in equity 13 (292) 199
Other comprehensive {expense)/income 877 1,372
581,257 - 643,915

Total comprehensive Income for the year

All of the above figures relate to continuing operations.

The.notes.on.pages.23.t0.63 form part of these financial statements

Volkswagen Financial Services {UK) Limited
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Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2022

Balance as at 1 January 2021
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year
Dividend pald

Total comprehensive income for the year

Balance as at 31 December 2021

Balance as at 1 January 2022

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive Income for the year

Balance as at 31 December 2022

Share capital  Other reserves Retained Total

and share eamings equity
premium

£000 £000 £000 £000

87,922 97,123 1,803,875 1,988,920

- - 642,543 642,543

- - 1,372 1,372

- - {525,000) {525,000)

- - 118,915 118,915

87,922 97,123 1,922,790 2,107,835

87,922 97,123 1,922,790 2,107,835

»’ - 580,380 580,380

- . 877 877

- - 581,257 581,257

87,922 97,123 ) 2,504,047 2,689,092

The aggregated current and deferred tax relating to items that were recognised in equity during the year Is £292,000 (2021: (£199,000}).

The notes on pages 23 to 63 form part of these financial statements

Volkswagen Financial Services {(UK) Limited
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Balance sheet
as at 31 December 2022

Non-current assets

finance lease receivables
Loans and receivables

Leasing and rental assets
Right-of-use assets

Property, plant and egulpment
Intangible assets

Derivative financial instruments
Subordinated notes

Deferred tax assets

Pension assets

investments in subsidiaries

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding bank overdrafts)

Inventories

Trade receivables

Loans and recelvables

Finance lease receivables

Other receivables and financial assets
Derivative financia! instruments
Current Income tax assets
Subordinated notes

Total assets

Current liabilitles

Financial liabllities

Lease liabilities

Trade payables

Other llabilities

Derivative financlal Instruments
Provisions

Non-current liabllities

Financial liabllities

Lease liabilities

Other liabllities

Derivative finandal instruments
Provisions

Pension [labllities

Total liabllities

Net assets

Equity

Share capital and share premium
Other reserves

Retained earnings

Total equity

The notes on pages 23 to 63 form part of these financlal statements

Note

16
15
12
26

1
23

13
24

18
14

16
17
23

26

20
23
21

26
20

21
24

22
22

2022 2021
£000 £000
10,402,541 9,936,967
87 17
2,781,973 2,610,632
32,025 33,927
4,808 6,201
21,474 13,007
232241 66,307
975,360 876,451
2,784 99,170

81t -

2,709 2,709
14,461,813 13,645,542
21,722 16,317
65,652 44,853
60,147 83,554
185,805 172,910
3,919,445 3,786,230
178,491 52,425
72,914 6,616
14,905 37,409
135,692 195,057
4,654,773 4,395,371
19,116,586 18,040,913
2,450,285 3,057,212
1,480 1,436
120,013 58,078
246,119 244,707

. 4,653

23272 5,964
2,841,179 3,372,050
23,309,369 12,317,129
31,485 33,201
185,731 181,155
57,806 27,991
1,924 1,008

- 544
13,586,315 12,561,028
16,427,454 15,933,078
2,689,092 2,107,835
87,922 87,922
97,123 97,123
2,504,087 1,922,790
2,689,092 2,107,835

The finandal statements on pages 20 to 63 were approved by the Board of Directors on 9 June 2023 and signed on its behalf by

1.2.0.

Jean Smith
Chief Financlal Officer

Volkswagen Financial Services {UK) Limited

Company registered number: 2835230
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Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
Notes to the financial statements

1. Accounting policies

Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Limited (‘the Company') is a wholly owned subsidiary of Volkswagen Finance Overseas B.V.

Volkswagen Financlal Services (UK) Limited offers financial products anq services promoting brands such as Audi, Volkswagen passenger cars, Volkswagen -
commercial vehicles, SEAT, Cupra, Skoda and MAN vehicle sales in the UK.

The principal trading activities of the Company during the year are described in the strategic report.

The Company is a private company limited by shares, domiciled and incorporated In England and Wales, United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006.

The address of its registered office Is Brunswick Court, Yeomans Drive, Blakelands, Milton Keynes, MK14 5(R, United Kingdom, The registered number of the

Company |s 2835230.

Basis of preparation

The Company's financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework (FRS 101} and in accordance with applicabie accounting standards and the Companies Act 2006. The format of the Part 1 *General
Rules and Formats' of Schedule 1 to the Regulation of "The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups {Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 has
been applied.

These are separate financial statements prepared as the Company has taken advantage of the exemption under s401 of the Companies Act 2006 not to
prepare group or consolidated accounts as It is @ wholly owned subslidiary of Volkswagen Finance Overseas B.V. The results of Volkswagen Finance Overseas
B.V. are included In the consolidated finandial statements of Volkswagen Financial Services AG which are available from the offices of: ‘

Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft Finanz

Publizitét und Statistik

D-38436 Wolfsburg

Germany

Given the spedial nature of the Compény's business, the income statement is presented in a revised format with interest payable and simflar charges treated
as a cost of providing finance to customers, and therefore classified as a cost of sale. In addition cost of sales includes the depreciation of operating lease
assets, service and maintenance costs, the cost of assets returned under operating lease agreements and assets returned under purchase products, operating
lease commission and vehicle disposal costs. Distribution costs consists of finance commission expenses, salesforce payroll costs and an element of general
overheads. Administration costs includes all other payroll costs, general overheads, depreciation and amortisation or other operating costs/Income If it
remalns on the face of the income statement.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historic cost basis except for financlal assets and financial liabllitles (including derivative instruments} at
fair value through profit or loss.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied in respect of the financlal year ended 31 December 2022 and have been applied consistently to all
periods presented In these financial statements. )

The Company's financial statements are presented in Sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£'000) except when otherwise
indicated.

Assets and liabllities are shown in descending order of liquidity In accordance with 1AS 1.

The accounting policles which follow set out these policles which apply in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

As per para A2.58 of FRS 101 which permits qualifying entitles that are not finandal institutions to take advantage of exemptions from the disclosure
requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disdosures and IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, Since the company Is not a financial institution as per the
definition defined in FRS 101 regulation, the Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS 101:

(a} the requirement of IFRS 7 Finandlal instruments: Disclosures ;
(b) the requirements of paragraphs 91-99 of IFRS 13 Foir Value Measurement ;
(c) the requirement of the second sentence of paragraph 110 and paragraphs 113{z), 114, 115, 118, 119(a) to (c), 120 to 127 and 129 of IFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers;
{d) the requirement of paragraph 52, the second sentence of paragraph 89, and paragraph 90, 91 and 93 of IFRS 16 Leoses;
{e ) the requirement of paragraphs 10{d), 10(f), 16, 38A, 388, 38C, 38D, 40A, 408, 40C, 40D, 111 and 134 to 136 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financicl
Statements to present comparative information In respect of:
{i) LAS 1 paragraph 79{a)(iv) a reconciifation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the period;
(11} 1AS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, paragraph 73(e);
(iii) 1AS 38 Intangible Assets, paragraph 118(e).
() the requirement of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows;
(g) the requirement of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 Accounting Policles, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors;
(h) the requirements of paragraph 17 and 18(a) of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (key management compensation);
{i} the requirement in |1AS 24 Reloted Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions entered Into between two or more members of a group,
provided that any subsldiary which is a party to the transaction Is wholly owned by such a member; and
{)) the requirement of paragraphs 130{f){il)<{ill) of IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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Notes to the financial statements

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Management estimates and Judgements
The presentation of the financial statements in conformity with FRS 101 requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions. These
judgements, estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as well as income and expenses in the financial statements

provided.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the resuits of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The actual outcome Is not expected to differ significantly from the estimates and assumptions made.

The estimates’ underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised In the period in which the
estimate is revised.

Judgements made by management In the application of FRS 101 that have significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk
of materlal adjustment in the next year are discussed below.

Key estimatlons and uncertainties made are in relation to the valuation of residual values for assets supporting finance and operating lease agreements and
amounts due under finance leases, income recognition of service and maintenance contracts, the recoverabllity of debtor balances, taxation and pension

liabilitles:

- Residual value adjustment - Residual values (RV) represent the estimated value of the leased asset at the end of the lease period. Residual values are
calculated after analysing the market place and the Company's own historical experience In the market, Expected residual values of leased assets are
prospectively adjusted for through the depreciation adjustments which are charged to the income statement each year. Refer to Note 12 and 14 for further

detalls.

- Voluntary termination adjustment - Additlonelly, consumers with hire purchase agreements (Including personal contract purchase) and hire agreements
regulated under the Consumer Credit Act 1974 (“CCA”) have the right to voluntarily terminate their agreements early. The key estimates and judgements

that arise in relation to determining the voluntary termination adjustment are:
- expectations of the timings of voluntary terminations - when in the life cycle a voluntary termination is flkely to happen will have an impact on the valustion

of any adjustment both in relation the time value of cash flows and the expected residual value of returned vehicles;
- the expected volume of voluntary terminations - the quantity of voluntary terminations expected in the portfolio will have an impact on the total size of any

adjustment;
- the expected losses given voluntary termination {LGVT) - the estimate of the cash flows of finance lease recelvabies where the expected RV of the returned

vehicle s lower than the customer future receivables.

Refer to Note 16 for further details.

Credit risk provisions are made relating to the recoverability of recelvable balances to reflect expected losses. The expected asset collateral s also considered
when determining the expected recoverability of the debt. Refer to Note 16 for further details.

The measurement of the expected credit loss {ECL) allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost is based on the IFRS9 simplified approach,
which requires the use of models and assumptions about credit behaviour (e.g. the llkelihood of customers defauiting and the resulting losses).

The critical inputs to calculate ECL come from the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Defauit (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD).

Key estimates and judgements arise where:
- PD represents the likellhood of a borrower defaulting on its financlal obligation; requires risk classes to be applled to receivables contracts, with an

appropriate probability of default attributed,
- EAD is based on the amounts the Company expects to be owed at the time of default. EAD indudes not yet due and overdue principal and interest against

which a relevant discount rate Is applled, s
- LGD represents the Company's expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure and is based on underlying collateral values, expected realisable

amounts and statistical decision trees.

Effective interest Rate {EIR) adjustments are applied to exposures, and are based on two components; Unamortised fees and Day count conventions.
The Internal Liquidity Coverage Ratio (ILCR) requires specific portfolios of assets to be defined based on e.g. "Days past due” and/or “Product” and

anticipated credit loss rates attributed to them.

The Company considers forward looking information in the ECL model assessing various economic variables.

Volkswagen Financial Services {UK) Limited
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

Management estimates and judgements {(continued)

The Company holds derivative financlal instruments both In hedged and non-hedged relationships. Where a hedge relationship exists the movement in an
effective relationship changes the fair value of the asset being hedged. VWFS uses interest rate swaps to hedge the interest rate risk in fixed rate |leasing
recelvables. Where the market for a financial instrument Is not active, falr value Is established using a valuation technique. These valuation techniques
involve a degree of estimation, the extent of which depends on the insbument'’s complexity and the avallability of market-based data. Refer to Note 23 for
further details,

The expected profit margin on service and maintenance products is a key estimate used that determines the timing of the recognition of income, while this
does not change the profit recognlsed over the whole life it will impact the profits recognised in each financlal year. In determining the expected profitability
of these products estimates are made concerning the expected costs of providing the service and maintenance and where applicable expectations of the

quantity of services required. Refer to Note 20 for further details.
- In the recognition of uncertain income tax items, the expected tax payment is used as the basls for the best estimate. When determining deferred tax

assets, there is a need to make assumptions about future taxable income and the timings for any recovery of the deferred tax assets. The measurement of
deferred tax assets for tax loss carry forwards is generally based on future taxable income within a planning horizon of five fiscal years. The Company does
not have carry forward loss. Refer to Note 13 for further detalls.

- The recognition and measurement of pension assets and liabilities Is also based on assumptions about the probability that future events will accur and the
amounts Involved, together with an estimation of the discount rate. Past experience or reports from external experts are used as far as possible. The
assumptions underlying the calculation of pension provisions are explained in note 24. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive

income and have no impact on profit or loss.

Accounting estimates and management Judgements due to sustainabllity aspects

The VWFS approach to environmental management is intended to be a transparent and continuous process of improvement within the context of both the
Corporate Soclal Responsibility Strategy and the sustainable development of the Volkswagen Group. The Company is committed to complying with the
United Nations' Paris Agreement with a goal to becoming a company with a carbon-neutral footprint by 2050. The effects of changes In estimates and
management Judgements may relate In particular to the estimated residual value of vehicle assets which has been consldered as part of the residual value

adlustment disclosed above.

Golng concern

The Company’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, its financial position, financial risk management.
objectives, detalls of Its financial instruments and derivative activities, and its exposures to price, credit, liquidity, dimate and cash flow risk are described In
the Directors’ Report on pages 11 to 16. The appropriateness of the going concern basis in the preparation Is discussed in the paragraph below. The financial
position of the Company, liquidity position and borrowing fadilities are described in the primary statements and notes of these set of financial statements.

In determining the appropriateness of the Going Concern basis for the preparation of the annual reports and accounts the directors have assessed a period
from the date of signing the accounts until 9 June 2024. The assessment considered a number of key factors, namely, accessibility of funding and levels of
tiquidity, capital reserves, forecasts of business performance and asset risk. Management consliders accessibility to liquidity the most significant risk to the
business. When considering whether the Company has access to sufficient levels of funding the directors considered a number of scenarios, as is, cautious,
downside and an extreme stress scenario. In ali instances the Company has sufficient liquidity headroom up to and including 9 June 2024,

After making these assessments, the directors assessed there to be a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue In
operational existence for the fareseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basls in preparing the annual report and accounts.

Common Control Acquisitions

Acquisitions made by the Company from other companies of the VW AG Group are treated as common controf transactions and predecessor accounting Is
applied. Under predecessor accounting no purchase price allocation is performed. The acquired assets and liabilities are Initially recognised In Company at
the their book value as recorded in the consolidated VW AG Group financlal statements at the date of transfer, the difference being recognised in equity.

All profits and losses of the acquired business are included within the profit and loss account in the year of acquisition from the date the entity became a
member of the Group.

Foreign currency
Transactions in forelgn currencies, which are those other than the functional currency of the entity, are recorded at the exchange rate ruling at the date of

the transaction. At the balance sheet date monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated at the balance sheet rate.

Functional and presentational currency
tems included in the financial statements are measured using Sterling, the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates belng

the United Kingdom.
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1. Accounting policies {continued)
Financlal risk management

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and residual value risk. The Company's overall risk
management programme relating to each of these risks is set out in the Strategic Report.

Financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets

(/) Classification and measurement

From 1 January 2018, the Company has applied IFRS 9 and classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

- Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL);

- Amortised cost

(ii) impairment
The Company assesses on a forward-looking basls the expected credit losses associated with its debt Instrument assets carvied at amortised cost. The
Company recognises a loss allowance at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

- An unbiased and probabllity-welghted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;

- The time vafue of money; and
- Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and

forecasts of future economic conditions,

(i} Derecognition
Assets are derecognised once all of the risk and rewards of ownership have been transferred.

Finance lease recelvabies

Lease agreements are classified as finance leases when they transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership to the Lessee; this incudes lease
purchase, finance leases, persanal contract plans ("PCP”) and hire purchase contracts. All other leases are classified as operating leases. When assets are
treated as a finance lease, the net present value of the lease payments plus any guaranteed residual value payments, where applicable, is recognised as a
recelvable, recorded at amortised cost. The difference between gross receivable and the present value of the recelvable is recognised as unearned finance
lease income, Future lease payments are based on the expected cash flows on the leasing contract, these cash flows take into account any expected losses
on the residual value of a vehicle and are cisssifled as embedded derivatives, recorded at fair value, further detalls of which are discussed in the embedded

derlvatives section below.

Loons and recelvables
Loans and recelvables are measured at amortised cost and include non derivative finandal assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in

an active market. Loans and receivables are loans to employees in connection with the Volkswagen Group United Kingdom Limited employee car ownership

scheme and loans to dealers.

Trade and other receivabies
Trade and other recelvables are recognised at thelr carrying value, subsequent to Initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost.

Trade recelvables are predominantly amounts due to other inter-group companies and other receivables cansist mainly of third parties.

Securitisation
The Company has securitised certain of its hire purchase gross receivables. Recelvables may be sold on a monthly basis to Spectal Purpose Entities ("SPEs”).

Under IFRS 9, if a transferor retains substantielly all the risks and rewards associated with the transferred assets, the transaction Is accounted for as a
financing transaction, notwithstanding that It Is a sale transaction from a legal perspective. The Directors have concluded that the Company has retained
substantlally all the risks and rewards of the pool of auto loan receivables and therefore that the Company cannot derecognise the auto loan receivables as
assets. Instead, the Company recognises a deemed loan from the SPEs {(note 19} which are secured on, and only has recourse to, the cash flows arising from

the auto loan receivables. See also Deemed Loan from SPEs below.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call deposits and bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand.

Subordinated notes
Subordinated notes are initially measured at fair value on recognition and then in subsequent perlods at amortised cost.
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FAnandal liabllities

(i) Classification and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost with exception of derivatives that are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

(i) Derecognition
Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

Trade and other poyables
Trade and other payables are recognised at their fair value on recognition and then in subsequent periods at amortised cost.

Trade payables are predominantly amounts owed to other companies within the Volkswagen Group for the purchase of vehides.

Interest-bearing borrowing
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at falr value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing

borrowings are stated at amortised cost using effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Provisions and other contingent liabilities
Prowvislons are recognised in accordance with IAS 37 where a present obligation has arisen as a result of a past event and an outflow of economic beneflts is

probable with a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation.
A contingent liabifity is not recognised but is disclosed as required by paragraph 86 of IAS 37, unless the possibiiity of an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefit is remote.

The Company operates in a regulatory and legal environment that, by nature, has a helghtened element of litigation risk inherent to Its operations. As a
result, It is Involved in various litigation, arbitration and regulatory investigations and proceedings in the UK, arising in the ordinary course of the Company’s

business.
When the Company can reliably measure the outflow of economic benefits in relation to a speciic case and considers such outflows to be probabie, the

Company records a provision against the case. Where the probabllity of outflow is considered to be remote, or probable, but a reliable estimate cannat be
made, a contingent liability s disclosed. However, when the Company is of the opinion that disdosing these estimates on a case-by-case basis would
prejudice their outcome, then the Company does not include detailed, case-specffic disclosers in its financial statements,

Glven the subjectivity and uncertainty of determining the probability and amount of losses, the Company takes into account a number of factors Including
legal advice, the stage of the matter and historical evidence from similar incidents. Significant jJudgement is required to conclude on these estimates.

A

Derivative finandal instruments and hedging

Derivative financlal Instruments
The derivative financial instruments comprise interest rate swaps transactions. Only Interest rate swaps are used for risk management purposes. All

derivatives financial instruments are stated at fair value and are shown separately under note 23. The fair value Is determined using discounted cash flows
and market value for similar assets, taking into account credit and debit value adjustments. All changes in falr value of the derivative financlal Instruments
are recognised in the income statement.

Embedded derivatives

As explained within finance lease recelvables above the valuation of certain finance lease contracts includes an expectation of expected losses. The expected
losses are the result of clauses within the contract that create an embedded derivative. These dauses relate to the customers right to handback a vehicle at
the end of a contract or to voluntary terminate a contract. The embedded derivatives are included within the finance lease receivable in the balance sheet
and are measured at fair value. This valuation Is based on the expected loss taking Into account estimates and judgements discussed within the Management
Estimates and Judgements section above for voluntary terminations and on expected market valuations and levels of retumn for handbacks.

Hedge Accounting
The Company applies macro hedge accounting where movements in a group of derlvatives are effective in offsetting movements in the asset they are
hedging. Where the movements are effective the change in the fair vatue of the underlying asset is recognised in the proflt and loss account to offset the

change in the movement of the derivative financial instruments.
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Revenue

The income statement Is credited with:

- Income from finance leases, calculated according to the effective interest rate method;

- Income from operating leases recognised on a straight line basls over the period of the lease and comprises an interest and repayment portion;
- The sales proceeds from the sale of vehicles at the end of operating lease agreements and other returned vehicles;

- Income from service and maintenance contracts recognised based on the satisfaction of a performance obligation within the contract.

Revenue from service and maintenance contracts Is recognised In accordance with the principles of IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The
core princlple of the standard is to recognise revenue based on the satisfaction of a performance obligation within the contract. For these contracts the
obligation or part of the obligation is satisfied at the point the costs for service and malntenance are Incurred, the amount of revenue recognised at this point
is based on the expected margin within the contract until ail obligatiens within the contract are fulfilled, at that point all remalining revenue will be
recognised. Due to the nature of service and maintenance contracts there will be more than one occurrence of a performance obligation during the contract,
for example there may be an entitlement to two or three services, therefore the expected margin In the contract will have an impact on the timing of the
recognition of the income but will not change the revenue and profit recognised over the life of the contract. The expected margin Is calculated as part of the
pricing process and Is the difference between the amount paid by the customer for the contract and the expected costs to be incurred which are determined

using expected volumes of service and parts and the agreed costs for labour and parts,

Payments from customers for service and maintenance contracts are deferred on the balance sheet until the point they are recognised, when the
performance obligations is met.

Other operating mcome
Other operating income comprises income from post write-off recoveries, net insurance income and other Income.

Other operating costs
Other operating costs comprise net movements in provisions for impairment and write offs on receivables, movement in embedded derivatives, donations
and other operating costs.

Segment reporting
IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Company that are regularly reviewed by the

chief operating declsion maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance. The chief operating decision-maker has been
Identified as the Board of Directors and Board of Management that makes strategic decisions.

Information reported to the Board of Directors and Board of Management for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance is
by strategic (significant) business unit, l.e. on a geographical basis.

Secondary reporting information is also provided to the Board of Directors and Board of Management regarding business products. The Company operates in
the United Kingdom only and therefore has a single operating segment.

Intangible assets
Purchased intanglble assets with a finite useful life, mainly software, are capltalised at cost and amortised over their economic life of three years using the

straight-line method. Provided the requirements under 1AS38 are fulfilled, software developed in-house is capitalised with directly attributable direct costs
and overhead. The corresponding assets are like-wise subject to amortisation over a three year perlod, and the resulting depreciation and amortisation

expense is recognised under general administration costs,

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment Is carried at cost less accumulated depreclation and impalrment. Costs comprise of the purchase price after discounts plus all

directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use. Subsequent costs are included In the assets carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset as appropriate if it meets the definition of an asset.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful Iife.

Fixtures, fittings and equipment - Straight-line over estimated useful life of asset (3 to 10 years)

Freeholdland - Not depreciated
Building - right-of-use assets - stralght-line over the lease term
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Right-of-use assets
Lease terms are negotiated on an Individual basis and contaln a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any

covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on 3 present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of fixed payments, less

any lease incentives receivable.
The lease payments are discounted using the incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce

a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

(i) the amount of the Initial measurement of [ease liability

(ii) any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received

(iil) any initial direct costs, and

(iv) restoration costs

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a stralght-line basis as an expense
in the income statement. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT equipment,

Assets subject to operating leases
Operating lease assets consists of vehicles leased to retail and corporate customers on contract hire agreements, these are shown on the balance sheet as a
separate item 'Leasing and rental assets' and are measured at cost less straightine depreciation and amortisation expenses over the term of the lease to the

Imputed residusal value which are reviewed on a monthly basls.

Estimated residual values are reviewed throughout the year and at the balance sheet date against revised projections of used-car prices at the end of the
lease term and the resulting changes of estimate are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate in line with IAS 8. Increases and decreases in
residual vaiues result in an adjusted prospective depreciation charge within cost of sales. Leasing income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease and comprises an Interest and repayment portion.

Residual values are being assessed for impairment and any Increases or decreases resulting from the assessment are recognised or reversed in the profit or
loss in accordance with IAS 36.

Inventories
Inventories consist of used vehicdles awaiting resale in respect of terminated or matured lease contracts, and new vehicles acquired in anticpation of lease

contracts about to commence. The carrying value is at the lower of net book value and net realisable value (sales proceeds net of any selling costs). The
proceeds from the sale of stock Is recognised In Sales Revenue with the corresponding carrying value included in Cost of sales.

Employee benefits
Pension arrangements for staff are operated through the Volkswagen Group Pension Scheme. The assets of the Volkswagen Group Pension Scheme are

administered by trustees and kept separate from those of the Company. The defined benefit scheme Is closed to new members and therefore some current
employees are members of this scheme, whilst others are members of a defined contribution scheme.

With effect from 1 January 2010 no further contributions were made into the defined benefit scheme. All members of the defined benefit scheme then
became members of the money purchase scheme and all contributions made from this date, other than to fund already accrued defined benefit obligations,

will be directed to that scheme instead.

Defined contribution plan
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Company has no legal or

constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits refating to employee service
in the current and prior periods. Pension costs in relation to the defined contribution scheme are charged to the profit and loss account in the period they are

incurred.

Defined benefit plans
A defined benefit plan is 2 pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. Typically defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an

employee will recelve on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation.

The regular service cost of providing retirement benefits to employees during the year is charged to operating profit in the year. The full cost of providing
amendments to benefits in respect of past service Is also charged to operating profit in the year.
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Employee benefits (continued)

A credit representing the expected return on the assets of the scheme during the year Is included within finance gain/(loss). This is based on the market
value of the assets of the scheme at the start of the financial year. A charge representing the expected increase in the liabilitles of the scheme during the year
is included within finance gain/(loss). This arises from the fiabilities of the scheme being one year closer to payment. Differences between actual and
expected returns on assets during the year are recognised in other comprehensive income in the year, together with differences arising from changes in
assumptions.

The liabllity recognised on the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of
the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets.

Independent actuaries prepare funding valuations of this scheme at least every three years and in accordance with their recommendations the Company
makes contributions over the expected working lives of the employees. These triennial valuations are updated each year to meet the accounting
requirements of 1AS19. The valuations are prepared using the internationally accepted projected unit credit method.

The current service cost of the defined benefit plan, recognised in the income statement in Administrative costs, reflects the increase In the defined benefit
obligation resutting from employee service in the current year, benefit changes, curtailments and settlements.

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in Administrative costs. These costs are calculated by applying the discount rate to the net batance of the
defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets.

Actuarial galns and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes In actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other
comprehensive Income in the period in which they arlse.

Employee bonus

The Company recognises a liability and an expense for staff bonuses based on the performance of the wider Volkswagen Group and the Company
individually. The Company recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised In Income statement except to the extent that it relates to items

recognised directly in equity, In which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and llabilities and thelr carrying
amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred tax liabllities.are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income
tax is alsa not accounted for if It arises from initia) recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects nelther accounting not taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax Is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting perlod and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred

Income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and llabilities and when the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxatlon authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and

intends elther to settle on a net basls, or to reallse the asset and settle the liability simuitaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Operating leases - lessee accounting
‘Rental costs under aperating leases are charged to the Income-statement in-equal amounts-over the period.of the leases,

Inktial direct costs
Initial direct costs are those incremental costs incurred by the company in obtaining the lease which would have been avoided had the lease transaction not

taken place. They include commissions, documentation fees and bonuses pakd to procure Individual lease contracts. Initial direct costs are deferred on the
balance sheet when incusrred and included within the lease recelvables balance or PPE to the extent that the costs are recoverable from future profits of the
lease. The caplitalised amount Is amortised to the profit and loss account over the lease term, with the amortisation charge being determined on a basis
similar to the basis of Income recognition of the related lease contract. Initial direct costs are presented within amounts due more than one and less than one

year, as appropriate, based on the expected timing of the future amortisation charge.
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Deemed Loan from SPEs
The Directors of the Company have concluded that the sale of the pools of auto receivables to the SPEs being Driver UK Master S.A. and Driver UK

Multicompartment S.A failed the derecognition criteria under IFRS 9 and therefore, the Company has not derecognised the auto loan recelvables. instead the
Company has recognised a limited recourse loan (a ‘deemed loan'} from the SPEs, which is secured on, and only has recourse to, the cash flow arising from

the auto loans. The deemed loan Is classified within Financial Liabitities.

The deemed loan was originally recognised at the amount corresponding to the consideration received by the Company for the pool of auto loans, less the
funding of the reserve funds. The limited recourse loan has subsequently been adjusted of the principal receipts from the underlying auto loans which have

been retained by the SPEs and which represent the deemed loan.
Effects of new and revised IFRSs
From 1 January 2023, it is mandatory to apply the amendments to IAS 1, Practice statement 2 and IAS 8, IAS 12, IFRS 16, IAS 1 and IFRS 17.
- IAS 1, Practise statement 2 and IAS B - to improve accounting policy disclosures and to help users of the financial statements to distinguish between

changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies;

- IAS 12 (Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arlsing from a single transaction) - amendments require companies to recognise deferred tax on
transactions that, on Initial recognition, give rise to equal amounts of taxable and deductible temparary differences;

- IFRS 16 {Leases on sale and leaseback) - amendments include requirements for sale and leaseback transactions in IFRS 16 to explain how an entity accounts
for a sale and leaseback after the date of transaction;

- |1AS 1 (Non current liabilities with covenants) - amendments darlfy how conditions with which an entity must comply within twelve months after the
reporting period affect the classification of a liabllity;

- IFRS 17 (Insurance contracts) - this standard replaces IFRS 4, which permits a wide variety of practices In accounting for insurance contracts.
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2. Revenue

Revenue is the aggregate of operating lease income and eamings from finance leases and service and maintenance contracts, primarily in the UK.
Revenue also includes the sales proceeds from the sale of vehicles at the end of operating lease agreements and other returned vehicles,

Amounts recognised within revenue in the income statement are set out below:

2022 2021

£000 £000

Loans and receivables 47,956 46,646
Finance leases 783,047 698,733
Operating leases 579,466 588,117
Vehidle disposals 799,511 1,181,827
Service and maintenance 201,989 181,915
Other Income 1,804 4,680
2,413,773 2,701,918

Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Limited



Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
Notes to the financial statements {continued)

3. Cost of sales

Amounts recognised within cost of sales in the income statement are set out below:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Carrying amount of vehicle disposals 3.1 578,477 1,029,328
Operating lease depreciation 374,578 425,019
(Write up) on operating lease (21,879) (20,699)
Interest payable 3.2 386,688 235,394
Service & Malintenance costs 196,376 154,286
Dealer commissions 10,005 25,621
Vehlde disposal costs 18,299 31,064
Other leasing expense 21,486 16,226
1,564,030 1,896,239
3.1 - Carrying amount of vehicle disposals:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Operating lease disposals 543,056 691,122
Other vehide disposals 35421 338,206
578,477 1,029,328

3.2 - Interest payable included within the cost of sales is as follows:
2022 2021
£000 £000
On loans from affiliated companies 231,925 157,163
On bank loans and overdrafts 15,000 12,529
On loan notes 139,763 65,702
386,688 235,394
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4. Auditors' remuneration

Amounts receivable by the auditors and their associates in respect of:
Fees payable to Company's auditors and their associates for the audit of company financial statements

Fees payable to the Company's auditors for the audit of the Company's subsidiaries

This is included within the administration expenses on the income Statement.

5. Expenses and other operating income and costs

Distribution costs

Third party services

Payroll and training expenses

Other expenses

IT Costs

Depreciation of intangible and tangible fixed assets

Total Distribution Costs

Administration costs

Third party services

Payroll and training expenses

Other expenses

IT Costs

Depreciation of Intangible and tangible fixed assets

Total Administration Costs

Other operating Income

Movements [n provisions for write ups
Movements in embedded derivatives
Net insurance income

Other income

Total Other operating income

Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Limited

2022 2021
£000 £000
275 211

16 16
291 227
2022 2021
£000 £000
8,037 3,969
14,216 16,069
20,633 20,337
1,614 2
297 405
44,798 40,782
2022 2021
£000 £000
30,330 35,225
53,269 42,100
10,342 4,048
25,622 9,066
2,999 3,019
122,562 93,458
2022 2021
£000 £000
- 7,960
35,953 50,591
2,544 2,323
619 1,638
39,116 62,512
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5. Expenses and other operating income and costs {continued)

Other operating costs 2022 2021
£000 £000
Movements in provisions for impairment and write offs 23,412 .
Donations 118 108
Other operating costs 48,957 38,477
Total other operating costs 72,487 38,585
6. Finance gain
2022 2021
£000 £000
Gain/(loss) on derivatives designated at fair value 141,284 30,910
Gain/{loss) on derivatives designated In 2 hedging relationshlp 49,170 .
Falr value movemaent of assets designated in a hedging relationship (63,532) -
Foreign exchange gain/{loss) 220 {504)
Net interest (cost)/income from pension provislons (see note 24) (4) (20)
127,138 90,386
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7. Staff numbers and costs

The monthly average number of persons employed by the Company (including directors) during the year, analysed by category, was as follows:

Numbser of empioyees
2022 2021
Executive 20 7
Sales 49 58
Administration 885 908
954 973

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons (including executive pay) were as follows:
2022 2021
£000 £000
Woages and salarles 58,052 49,709
Social security costs 4,924 4,324
Pension costs - defined contribution plans {note 24) 3,703 3,644
66,679 57,677
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8. Directors' emoluments

2021
£000

649
72

730

Directors' remuneration 2022
£000
Salaries & other short-term employee benefits 713
Long-term incentive plans 127
Company contributions to defined contribution pension schemes ‘9,
849

Retirement benefit accrued to two directors (2021: Two) under a money purchase scheme during the year.
In respect of the highest pald director: 2022
£000
Salaries & other short-term employee benefits 372
Long-term incentive plans 63
Company contributions to defined contribution pension schemes 4

2021
£000

346

E-3

Transactions with Key Management Personnel

The Company operates a scheme whereby empioyees are eligible to loans which can only be used to fund the purchase of a car from the VW UK Group at
a discounted retail price. This vehicle is purchased on the basls VW UK Group will buyback the vehicle at the end of an agreed period or when the vehicle
has completed between 6,000 and 8,500 miles. ‘The proceeds of the buyback are used to settle the loan and no cash flows for the loan pass through

employees.

The detalls of the transactions are disclosed below and represent the discounted aggregate retail value {loan amount) of the cars acquired during the year.

2021
£000

519
821
{852)

2022

£000

Amounts outstanding at the beginning of the year 488
Monies advanced by the Company during the year 519
Amounts repaid during the year {637)
370

488
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9. Taxation
Recognised in the income statement
2022 2021
£000 £000
Current tax expense
Current year 102,660 135,919
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 2,018 {19,260)
104,677 116,659
Deferred tax charge/(credit)
Orlgination and reversal of temporary differences - 52,827 {10,326}
Adjustments In respect of prior periods 33,266 33,312
91,092 22,986
195,770 139,645

Total tax charge In income statement

Reconcillation of effective tax rate
The company's profits for this accounting year are taxed at an effectlve rate of 19.00% {2021: 19,00%).
The tax charge is higher (2021: ower) than the standard rate of corporation tax In the UK of 19.00% (2021; 19.00%). The differences are explained below:

2022 2021

£000 £000

Profit before tax 776,150 782,188

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 19.00% {2021: 19.00%) 147,469 148,616
Effects of: )

Permanent differences {33) 162

Adjustments in respect of prior pericds 35,285 14,052

Difference In rates 13,050 {23,185)

195,770 139,645

Total tax In the income statement

Deferred tax assets and liabllities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or the liabllity settled,
based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date.

it was announced in the UK Government’s Budget on 3 March 2021, that the main UK corporation tax rate will increase from 19% to 25% from 1 April
2023. This change was substantively enacted on 24th May 2021.Subsequently, In the current perlod, the company's closing deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been calculated at 3 a mixture of 23.50% and 25% (2021: a mixture of 19% and 25%).

Accordingly a rate change adjustment has arisen as the opening deferred tax balance had been calculated taking into account the previously enacted rate
of 19%.
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10. Investments in subsidiaries

During 2018 VWFS Limited purchased Volkswagen Insurance Service (Great Britain) Limited by acquiring 20,400 A ordinary shares of £1.00 each from

Volkswagen Versicherungsdienst GmbH and 19,600 B ordinary shares of £1.00 each from Volkswagen Group United Kingdom Limited for consideration of
£6.273m.

The Company has the following investments in subsidiary: 2022 2021
£'000 £'000

Balance as at 1 January 2022 2,709 6,273
- (3,564}

Impairment on Investment

Balance as at 31 December 2022

Investments in group undertakings are recorded at cost, which is the fair valua of the consideration paid, less any impairment.

Country of Number and Ownership %
Incorporation Qlass of shares
hetd
2022 2021
Volkswagen Insurance Service (Great Britaln) Limited UK 40,000 Ordinary 100% 100%

The registered address of Volkswagen Insurance Service {Great Britain) Limited is Brunswick Court, Yeomans Drive, Blakelands, Milton Keynes, MK14 5LR,
United Kingdom.

The principal activity of VIS is to arrange insurance for vehicle owners of Volkswagen Group vehicles on behalf of retailers. ViS recelves commission for
this service and the valuation of the business was based on these future income streams. VWFS purchased the book to compliment its existing insurance

commission income stream.

The Company does not have an Investment In Driver UK Master S.A. or Driver UK Multicompartment S.A. as it holds no interest in either company.
However both Driver UK Master S.A. and Driver UK Multicompartment S_A. are considered to meet the Companies Act descriptlon of a quasi subsidiary

(on the basis of control due to the Company's abllity to use power to effect variable returns).

The Company maintains a branch presence in the Republic of Ireland as part of normal business operations.
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11. intangible assets
intangible Internally Total

assets under generated
development  intangible assets

£000 £000 £000
Cost
Balance as at 1 January 2022 13,007 2,484 15,491
Additions 8,467 - 8,467
Disposals . . .
Balance as at 31 December 2022 21,474 2,484 23,958
Accumutated amortisation and impairment
Balance as at 1January 2022 . (2,484) (2,484)
Amortisation during the year - - .
Disposals - - -
Balance as at 31 December 2022 . {2,484) (2,484)
Net Book Amount
At 31 December 2021 13,007 r 13,007
At 31 December 2022 21,474 - 21474

Intangible assets consist solely of costs relating to software.

The new intangible asset capitalised in the year is internally generated from the development of a new software for the business. It was still in the stage of
development as at the end of the year and therefore amortisation will only commence when the asset is In use.

There are no contractual commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets, nor are any intangible assets pledged as security for liabiiitles,

Amortisation is charged to administration expenses in the Income statement.

VWES continues to use the internally generated software that has a nil net book value as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022.
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12. Property, plant and equipment

Cost
Balance as at 1 January 2022

Additions
Disposals

Balance as at 31 December 2022

Accumulated depreciation and Impairment
Balance as at 1 January 2022
Charge

Write up adjustment
Disposals

Balance as at 31 December 2022

Net Book Amount
As at 31 December 2023

At 31 December 2022

£19.0m (2021: £26.8m) associated with residual values.

The provision of expected credit loss induded within the leasing and rental assets 5 £46.9m (2021: £68.8m).

Future minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating leases:

Within 1 year
1to 2 years
2 to 3 years
3 to 4 years
4t0 5 years

Lease recelpts total

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years

. Leasing and] Freehold land . Fixtures, | Total
T " ¥ “rental as T “T T fintingsand -
equipment
£000] £000 £000 £000
3,249,586 676 16,448 17,124} 3,266,710
1,071,757 - > - 1,071,756
(915,906) - - - (915,9086)
3,405,437 676 16,448 17,124! 3,422,561
e e —
(638,954) - {10,923) (10,923) (649,877)
{374,578) (1,393) (1,393) (375,971)
21,879 - z 1 21,879
368,189 v e 368,189
(623,464)1 - (12,316) {12,316) {635,780)
% —_—————— ?
2,610,63 676 5,525 5,201 2,616,833
2,781,973 676 4132 4ﬁ081 2,786,781
| [ ———— R ——————] ]
Included within the write up adjustment is a release of £2.8m (2021: charge £6.1m) relating to an increase of expected value In use and a release of
2022 2021
£000 £000
225,045 208,580
146,178 189,174
98,353 79,246
49,332 14,415
13,514 101
532,422 491,516
- 225,045 208,580
307377 282,936
$32,422 491,516
[~
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13, Deferred tax
Recognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are attributable to the following:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Operating leases 14,480 82,160
Derivatives (26,073) (9,730)
Other temporary differences 19,377 26,740
7,784 99,170

Total deferred tax assets

Movement in deferred tax during the year
1 January 2022 Recognised in Recognised In 31 December

income equity 2022

£000 £000 £000 £000

Operating leases 82,160 (67,680} - 14,480
Derivatives (9,730) (16,343} & {26,073)

- Other temporary differences 26,739 (7,070) (292) 19,377
99,169 {91,093) {292) 7,784

Movement in deferred tax during the prior year
1January 2021 Recognised In Recognised In 31 December

income equity - 2021

£000 £000 £000 £000

Operating leases 82,726 (567) o 82,159
Derivatives 9,878 (19,608) R (9,729)
Other temporary differences 2?,353 (2,812} 199 26,740
121,957 (22,987) 199 99,170

Deferred tax relating to timing differences which are expected to reverse is measured at a mixture of 23.50% and 25% (2021: a mbdure of 19% and 25%)
and reflects the rates at which deferred tax is expected to reverse, which were substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax has not been

discounted.

Derivative movements within deferred tax relate to Interest rate swaps held by the company with the Intention to hedge Interest rate risk. Timing
differences are generated by application of the Disregard regulation 9 tax rules on the swaps' annual fair value movements recognised In the incoma
Statement. From 1st July 2022, VWFS implemented hedge accounting with the effect the tax rules wlil no longer apply to the fair value movements on
the swaps and the hedged item on a go forward basls. However, at the same time, a transitional tax adjustment arises in relation to the opening position
as at 1st January 2022 and the fair value movement on the swaps in the 6 month period between 1st lanuary 2022 and 30th June 2022, This tax
adjustment corresponds to a 'Just and reasonable’ adjustment outlined within the Disregard regulation 9 rules and will reverse through current tax over

the expiry term of the hedged item.

Management have, in considering recognition of the deferred tax asset, looked at future profit forecasts for the Company. The Company prepares
forecasts for a period of 5 years which provides Management with the necessary comfort that sufficient profits will arise in future periods with which to
altow full offset of the deferred tax asset.

Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Limited



Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
Notes to the financial statements {continued)

14, Inventories

2022 2021
£000 £000
65,652 : 44,853

Vehicles held for remarketing

All items included within Inventories are expected to be recovered within 12 months.

The cost of inventorles recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales and other operating expenses amounted to £615m (2021 £1,080m)

The write-down of Inventories to fair value less costs to sell recognised as a cost In the year amounted to £0.1m (2021: income £7.4m) and these assets
have a carrying value of £60m (2021: £39m).

The embedded derivatives in respect of the resldual value risk on inventories Is £0.2m (2021: £0.4m).

15. Loans and receivables

2022 2021

£000 £000

toans to individuals 185,805 172,910
Loans to dealers 87 171
) 185,892 173,081

The Company operates a scheme whereby employees of companies within the VW UK group of companies are eligible to loans which can only be used to
fund the purchase of a car from the VW UK Group at a discounted retail price. This vehidle is purchased on the basls VW UK Group will buyback the
vehicle at the end of an agreed period or when the vehicle has completed between 6,000 and 8,500 miles, with the exception in the instance of vehide
supply shortage. The proceeds of the buyback are used to settle the loan and no cash flows for the loan pass through employees.
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16. Finance Lease Recelvables

2022 2021

£000 £000

Non-current 10,402,541 9,936,967
Current 3,919,445 3,786,230
14,321,986 13,723,197

8,983,861 9,248,883

Eligible finance lease recelvables securitised

The fair value of embedded derivatives In respect of the residual value risk on leasing recelvables is £74m {2021: £110m).

Asset backed securitisation programmes - Driver UK Master $.A and Driver UK Multicompartment S.A

In August 2002 the Company entered Into a securitisation programme with Dunyard Funding Limited, a special purpose entity {SPE) condult, involving the
sale of hire purchase and personal contract purchase receivables pursuant to the terms of a corporate administration agreement. This initial agreement
ended In August 2005. However, a series of rolling agreements have been made on varying terms to continue the programme. In November 2011 in
order to align the UK with the corporate programme, thls programme was replaced by another named Driver UK Master S.A , the terms of which remain
fundamentally the same as the then most recent Dunyard Funding Limited programme, with the introduction of discounted cash flow {DCF) valued
receivabies performed in November 2013, In November 2014 Driver UK Multi-Compartment S.A was introduced on similar terms to Driver UK Master S.A,

aliowing the placement of term deals.

The SPEs have each been treated as a related party in accordance with 1AS24 ‘Related party disclosures’. The SPEs, separate companies which have both
been incorporated in Luxembourg, were established for the purpose of purchasing these receivables and are benefidally owned by a foundation, The SPEs
are deemed to be subsidiaries of the Company as it has no interest in the share capital but does have control by virtue of its servicing of the receivables

and its exposure to variable returmns.

Under IFRS 9, if a transferor retains substantially all the risks and rewards assoclated with the transferred assets, the transaction is accounted for as a
financing transaction, notwithstanding that it is a sale transactlon from a legal perspective. The Directors have concluded that the Company has retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the pool of auto loan receivables transferred to the SPEs and therefore that the Company cannot derecognise
these auto loan receivables as assets. Instead, the Company recognises a limited racourse loan from the SPEs which are secured on, and only has recourse
to, the cash flows arising from the auto loan receivables. As a result of this, securitised receivables are inciuded within hire purchase recelvables with the
{iability recorded as ‘Deemed loan from SPEs' within finandial liabilities,

The securitisation programme Is primarily funded by asset backed notes which were listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange from November 2011. The
Company may continue to sell receivables each month to the SPEs in order to malintain the balance of funds advanced under the senior facility at a fixed

level.

The Company Is only obligated to support the losses on the securitised assets to the extent of the over collateralisation within the relevant transaction to
which the asset is sold, it is not obliged to support any loss greater than this amount, and does not Intend to do so. The SPEs have agreed not to seek
recourse against any other assets of the Company, apart from the Identified portfolio of receivables designated as securitised. There Is no provision
whatscever, ¢lther in.the financing agreement or otherwise, whereby the Company has a right or an.obllgation either to keep the items on.repayment of
the finance or, where title has been transferred, to reacquire them at any time.

The Company retains responsibllity for servicing the recelvables arlsing from the programme In line with the terms of a Recelvables Purchase Agreement.
It receives a monthly service fee which Is included in turnover for administering these responsibilities on behalf of the SPEs.

During 2022, there were four renewals to existing ABS transactions. The Driver UK Master S.A. acting as Driver UK Master Compartment two was renewed
in November 2022 at a size of £6.645bn. The Driver UK Master S.A. acting as Driver UK Master Compartment three transaction was renewed In September
2022 3t a size of £610m. The Driver UK Master S.A. acting as Driver UK Master Compartment four transaction was renewed in February 2022 at a size of
£960m. The Driver UK Multi-Compartment S.A. acting as Private Driver UK 2020-1 saw further tap up Issuances of £136m In June 2022 taking the

transaction to £867m.
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16. Finance Lease Receivables {continued)

Any monthly surplus arising within the SPE accrues to the benefit of VWFS. The surplus will be passed to the Company as deferred purchase consideration
at the end of the transaction, Within the Company this amount is included within the deemed loan.

Finance lease Finance lease

. 2022 2021
£000 £000

Gross [nvestment in the lease
Less than 1 year 4,485,120 4,268,440
1-2 years 4,373,720 4,563,771
2-3 years 3,972,086 3,801,914
34 years 3,584,341 2,858,015
4-5 years 7,325 4,126
More than 5 years 781 426
16,423,373 15,496,692
Unearned finance Income {1,877,764) {1,524,386)
Credit loss provision {149A35) {138,968)
Embedded derivatives (74,188) {110,141)
14,321,986 13,723,197

Net investment in the lease

Not later than one year 3,919,445 3,786,230
Later than one year and not later than five years 10,401,841 9,936,548
Later than five years 700 418
14,321,986 13,723,197

Restdual vatue risk

The profitability of the Company’s operating lease and personal contract purchase contracts is highly dependent on the residual value ("RV") of the vehide
at the end of the agreement, which in the case of a personal contract purchase agreement arises if the customer returns the vehicle to VWFS in full and

final setiement of the agreement.

On inceptlion of the lease or personal contract purchase, the Company uses Its knowledge and experience of the market and industry to estimate the final
RV of the vehicle. This is compared to other providers using competitor surveys such as the Insight report from CAP HPI. However, future RVs can be
difficult to predict due to a number of reasons, including future market trends and customer demands. The Company and the Group is always exposed to
the risk that the RV of the vehicle may be less than antlclpated at the outset of the contract impacting profitability.

The Company manages this risk through effective and rabust procedures by continually monitoring historic, current and forecast RV performance, RV
estimates and exposures within Its portfolio, both against industry-wide data such as CAP and Glass’s Guides, and the Company’s own remarketing
information on remarketing VW group and non-group vehicles. This ensures that any appropriate early action can be taken to mitigate RV risk.

In addition to the above the Company also reduces residual value risk on a smaller sub set of the portfolio through the use of buyback agreements with
other VW Group Companies which guarantee a repurchase price to VWFS at the end of a customers lease contract or rental period subject to certain

conditions.

Volkswagen Financial Services {(UK) Limited

45



Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

17. Other receivables and financial assets

2022 2021
£000 £000

Current assets
Prepayments and accrued income 6,065 5,942
Other receivables 172,426 46,483
178,491 52,425

Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Limited

46



Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

18. Cash and cash equivalents

2022 2021

£000 £000
Cash and cash equivalents 21,722 16,317
21,722 16,317

Net cash balance held

The Company has borrowing facilities that are available for future aperating activities and the settlement of capital commitments. The Company has four
main sources of liquidity, short to medlum-term funding is sourced from inter-company lenders, funding from the sale of securitised assets through our
ABS programmes, a committed syndicated revolving credit facllity signed in 2019 and short-term uncommitted bank credit facilities, typically provided
over a period of up to one month, Details of thesa facllities are set out In the Strategic Report. As at 31 December 2022, the Company had £513m (2021:
£513m) of uncommitted facllities available of this, £3.3m (2021: £nil) was utifised with £nil held on external deposit (2021: £20m), £2,000m of syndicated
revalving credit facilities available of which £nHll was utilised (2021: £nil) and £225m held on a term deposit with VW Bank Branch UK (2021: £nil).
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19, Financial Assets and Liabilities

2022 2021

Financlal Assets non-current £000 £000
Subordinated notes 975,360 876,451
975,360 876,451

2022 2021

FAnandiaf Assets current £000 £000
Subordinated notes 135,692 195,057
135,692 195,057

2022 2021

Financial Liabillties curvent £000 £000
Loan amounts due to fellow group affiliates - floating rate 1,812,948 2,096,348
Deemed loan from SPEs 634,036 960,864
Bank borrowings 3,301 0
2,450,285 3,057,212

2022 2021

Financial Liabllities non-current £000 £000
Loan amounts due to fellow graup affiliates - floating rate 5,723,757 4,778,645
Deemed loan from SPEs 7,585,612 7,538,484
13,309,369 12,317,129

Further to Note 16 which details the Asset 8acked Securitisation (ABS) programme of Driver UK Master S.A. and Driver UK Multi-Compartment §.A.. the
programme comprises of senior Loan A Notes, mezzanine Loan B Notes and Subordinated Debt, the issued Loan Notes & Debt have a legal final maturity
ranging from 2029 to 2031. As at 31 December 2022 £634m of the £8,328.3m of outstanding Loan and Subordinated Debt were due for repayment within
one year.

The securltisations are financed by both Loan Notes and Subordinated Debt as described above. During the revolving period principal collections for the
securitised recelvables will be utilised to purchase further receivables from VWFS UK Ltd, resulting In the Loan notes and Subordinated Debt balances
remalning constant. Following the revolving perlod the Loan Notes and Subordinated Debt will be repaid as the underlying recelvables portfolia redeems.

- Driver UK Master S.A. acting as Driver UK Master Compartment two: the Loan Notes and Subordinated Debt will begin to be repaid once the revolving
period has expired in November 2023, except for Loan Note A Serfes 2013-8 which started being repaid In December 2022.
- Driver UK Master S.A. acting as Driver UK Master Compartment three: the Loan Notes and Subordinated Debt will begin to be repaid once the revolving

period has explred In September 2024.
- Driver UK Master S.A. acting as Driver UK Master Compartment four: the amounts due were transferred into a new transactton Driver UK Master C6 in

March 2023.
- Driver UK Multi-Compartment S.A, acting as Private Driver UK 2020-1: the amounts will begin to be repaid once the revolving period has expired in June

2024.
- Driver UK Master S.A. acting as Driver UK Master Compartment five: amounts are already being repald as the revolving periods have expired.
- Driver UK Multi-Compartment S.A. acting as Driver UK six: amounts have been fully repaid due to the execution of the clean up call option In May 2021.
- Driver UK Multi-Compartment S.A. acting as Private Driver UK 2018-1: amounts have been fully repaid due to the execution of the clean up call option in
September 2022.
Ouring 2021, Volkswagen Finandal Services (UK) Limited became the Subordinated Lender across all of the remalning securitisations.
As at 31 Dacember 2022 £135.7m of the £1,111.1 of cutstanding Subordinated Debt were due for repayment within one year.
The terms and conditions of the Loan Notes and Subordinated Debt provide that the holders will recelve Interest and principal only to the extent that
sufficient funds are generated from the securitised recelvables. The priority and the amount of the claims on the portfolio proceeds are determined in
accordance with the strict priority of payments. Loan Note and Subordinated Debt holders have no right to recourse to the Group in any form. The non-
recourse finance comprises Sterling notes and debt Issued at par at a floating rate bearing interest ranging from one month SONIA plus 0.57% to 3.7326%,
except for: Driver UK Master S.A, acting as Driver UK Master Compartment two; Subordinated Debt, Driver UK Master S.A. acting as Driver UK Master
Compartment three; Loan Notes and Subordinated Debt, and Driver UK Multi-Compartment S.A. acting as Private Driver UK 2020-1; Subordinated Debt,
which bear a fixed rate of 3.4529% to 8.115%.

The deemed loan from the SPEs is only repayable to the extent that the principal payments on the securitised loans are received.
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20. Other liabilities

Current liabilities
Accruals and deferred Income
Other taxatlon and social security

Non-current liabilities
Accruals and deferred income

2022 2021
£000 £000
244,698 242,029
1421 2,678
246,119 244,707
185,731 181,155
185,731 181,155

Included within accruals and deferred Income Is £280m (2021: £159m) of deferred income on service and maintenance contracts to be recognised on the
satisfaction of future performance obligations. During the year £116m (2021: £104m) of revenue was recognised on service and maintenance contracts
deferred from previous periods where there was the satisfaction of the obligation in the current period.
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21. Provisions

Current |iabilities
Short term incentive
Other

Non-current liabilities
Dilapidation provision

At 1 January 2022

Utilised in the year
Additions in the year - charged to the income statement

At 31 December 2022

The balances are classified as current at the reporting date given that management expects these provisions to be utilised within 12 months.

2022 2021
£000 £000
9,083 5,901
14,183 63
23,272 5,964
1,924 1,008
1,924 1,008

Other Short term Dilapidation
Incentlve_ Total
£000 £000 £000 £000
63 5,901 1,008 6,972
{63) (5,901) : (5,964)
14,183 9,089 916 24,188
14,183 9,089 1,924 25,196

Short term incentive relates to employee bonus provision for the current year but payable in the next financial year.
As part of the property leasing arrangements there is an obligation to repalr damages which incur during the life of the lease, such as wear and tear. The cost
is charged to profit and loss as the obligation arises. The majority of provision has been aacpunted for as non current liabilities.

Other provisions includes litigation and conduct provisions which as described In the accounting policies {note 1) arise in the normal course of business for
company’s operating In a regulatory and legal environment that, by nature, has a heightened element of litigation and regulatory risk inherent to its
operations. These provisions have resulted or may arise in claims from customers, counterparties or other parties in civil litigations. As explained in Note 1,
the Company is of the opinion that disclosing these events on a case-by-case basis would prejudice thelr outcome, therefore detailed disdosures have not

been Included in the:Company financial statements.
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22, Capital and reserves

Called up share capital .
2022 2021
£000 £000

Authorised

100,000,000 (2021: 100,000,000} Ordinary shares of £1 each 100,000 100,000

e
Allotted called up and fully paid
70,000 70,000

70,000,002 (2021: 70,000,002) Ordinary shares of £1 each

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled ta one vote per share at meetings of the
Company.

Share Capital and Share Premium

Number of Shares Share Premium Total

shares
£000 £000 £000
As at 1 January 2022 70,000,002 70,000 17,922 87,922
New shares issued in year . = - -
As at 31 December 2022 70,000,002 70,000 17,922 87,922
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22, Capital and reserves (continued)

Other Reserves

Non-  Other reserves Retained Total reserves
distributable earnings
reserve

£600 £000 £000 £000
As at 1 January 2022 26,973 70,150 1,922,790 2,019,913
Profit for the year - 580,380 580,380
Other comprehensive income - . 877 877
26,973 70,350 2,504,047 2,601,170

As at 31 December 2022

Other reserves relates to ¢ non-efundable capital contribution of £20.0m gifted from the parent company and £50.15m on the acquisition of MAN
Financtal Services P,L.C from the parent company in 2016. These are both treated as distributable.

The non-distributable reserve represents the retained profits of the company to 31 December 1999 which were credited to the capital reserves of the
Company following a special resolution dated 17 February 2000. This resolution made pursuant to Regulation 70 of Table A in the schedule to the
Companles (Table A to F) Regulation 2007 as amended can be revoked at any time by an ordinary resolution of the Company which would enable the

directors to treat the reserves as distributable.

Capital management )
Capital is managed at a Group level by VW AG, the objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure the organisation provides retums for

shareholders and benefits for employees and other stakeholders. For the Financial Services Division of the VW AG group management focus on the retumn
on equity, being the measure of earnings before tax to average equity. Average equity calculated from the balance at the beginning and the end of the
reporting period. Furthermore the goals of the Financlal Services Division are to procure equity for growth planned In the coming fiscal years and to
support its external rating by ensuring capital adequacy. VWFS UK works collaboratively with VW AG in order to positively contribute to these objectives,

Dividends
The shareholders have not been paid a dividend for 2022 {2021: £525m). The Directors do not propose a dividend.
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23. Financial instruments

Derivatives financial instruments
The values shown below are the carrying amounts:

Per the balance sheet: 2022
£000

Assets at falr value through profit and loss:

Interest rate swaps 305,155

Liabilities at fair value through profit and loss:

Interest rate swaps 57,806

Fair value estimation

2021
£000

72,923

32,644

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded In an active market {for example, over-the-counter derlvatives) is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation technigues maximise the use of observable market data where it Is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific

estimates.

Fair values of financlal instruments
Detalled below are the assumptions applied in determining the fair value of the finandal Instruments held by the Company:

Derivative financial instruments

The falr vaiue of derivative financial instruments is determined on an IT-based measurement method using discounted cash flows, taking into account

credit and debit value adjustments.

Derivative financlal instruments

Interest rate swaps 2022 2021
Assets Liabilitles Assets Liabilitles
£000 £000 £000 £000
Current 72,914 0 6,616 4,653
Non-current 232,241 57,808 66,307 27,991
Total
305,155 57,806 72,923 32,644
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24. Employee benefits

Employees are members of the Volkswagen Group Pension Scheme and the liabilities of the Company are summarised in the table below,

2022 2021
£000 £000
Balance sheet
Net pension asset / (liability) 811 {544)
Income statement
Net interest (cost) from pension provisions (4} (20)
1,168 1,173

Actuarial gain/{loss) on defined benefit pension plans

Volkswagen Group Pension Scheme

The Company operates a defined contribution arrangement for its employees and directors which are sections of the Volkswagen Group Pension Scheme.
The Scheme Is funded and is a2dministered by professional pension administrators Barnett Waddingham. The defined benefit section was closed to new
entrants on 31 December 2003. Responsibility for the governance of the scheme lies Jointly with the member companies, the board of trustees and

employee representatives.

{a} Defined contribution section
The Company’s contributions to the money purchase section during the year amounted to £3.7m (2021: £3.7m). There were no outstanding or prepaid

contributions at the balance sheet date (2021: £nil).

(b) Defined benefit section

The defined benefit section is a final salary pension scheme which provides benefits to members In the form of a guaranteed level of pension payable for
life. The level of benefits provided depends on members’ length of service and their salary in the final years leading up to retirement. The defined benefit
section Is funded and self-administered. Contributions were charged to the profit and lass account so as to spread the cost of pensions over employees’
working lives within the Company.

The defined benefit contributions are determined by an independent qualified actuary, AON, on the basis of actuarial valuations using the projected unit
credit method. The most recent completed triennlal actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out by Lane Clark & Peacock LLP , an independent
qualified actuary, as at 30 September 2020. For the purpose of these financial statements an updated valuation as at 31 December 2022, based on data
consistent with the 30 September 2020 triennial valuation and updated as appropriate, has been prepared by AON, to take account of the requirements

of |AS 19.

Following completion of a new actuarial valuation, the Company contributions expected to be pald in the year commencing 1 Janvary 2023 amount to
£0.7m (commencing 1 January 2022 £0.7m). Additional contributions could be payable if the funding position does not remain on track to remove the

deflcit by the end of the Recovery Plan.
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24. Employee benefits (continued)

The Scheme undergoes a triennial valuation where the participating empfoyers and Trustee put in place a funding agreement taking into account the
assets and value of liabilities. If the liabllities exceed the assets there will be a requirement to repair this shortfall and a recovery plan Is agreed setting out
the deficit contributions required and the timing of them. The last valuation was agreed In 2020 which had an effective reporting date of 30 September
2020 at that time the Scheme was fully funded and no deficit contributions were required.

Where contributions are payable the amount paid by each participating employer is proportional to their share of the deficit. All members (past and
present) of the scheme are allocated to one of the employers. The liability for each employer is the total llabllity In respect of all the members allocated to
that emplover. The Trustee and the employers have agreed a protocol for the notlonal splits of the scheme’s assets between the participating employers.
The asset value allocated to each employer is in line with existing practice used for IAS 19 and as originally set out In & paper prepared by LCP dated 7
December 2012. This involves taking the asset value for each employer at the previous year end and rolling forward to reflect cashflows in respect of each
employer and the overall investment return for the scheme. This means that the breakdown of assets differs from the breakdown of liability {largely due

to different cashflows by employer eg level of contributions and benefit payments).

The funding level is assessed every three years and depending on the outcome of each actuarial valuation this could impact the level of future
contributions. The liabllities are valued on a prudent basis as required under UK legisiation, whereas in the finandal statements a best estimate is placed
on the liabilities (except the discount rate which is prescribed to be set using AA corporate bond yields).

All participating entities attend a quarterly employer meeting to discuss pension related matters and so all entitles have regular input as required.

In the normal course of events, an Employer which participates in the Plan will not be liable for other participating employers’ obligations or liabilities in
respect of the Plan. However, If a participating employer ceased to participate In the Plan due to that employer’s insolvency and the circumstances were
such that the employer was not able to pay its share of the Plan’s liabilitles, in principle, the remaining Employer(s} in the Plan would then have to meet
the liabilities which would otherwise be attributable to the ‘exiting’ employer. In ather words the Plan’s deficit would then be funded by the remaining
Employer(s), including the proportion of the deficit for which the insolvent employer would have been responsible. Ultimately, this would be a matter to
be addressed in the particutar ciroumstances but such a situation could cause an employer to become liable for another employer’s obligation under the

Plan.

There is no agreed allocation of a deficit or surplus as between the participating employer on the winding-up of the Plan. Each Employer would be liable
for its share of the Scheme’s deficit under Section 75 of the Pensions Act 1995 (l.e. its share of the full buy-out cost to secure the Pian’s liabilities). As
such, this is a matter for legislation {(such that the Employer’s liability for the overall Scheme deficit is proportionate to the liabilities which are attributable
to Employer itself) rather than there being any other pre-agreed apportionment or allocatlon of Habllities between the Employers. Alternatively, If there
were a surplus on the winding-up of the Plan, it would be for the Trustees to determine the shares which are paid to the Employers, rather than there

being a pre-agreed allocation/distribution of a surplus.

The Scheme exposes the Company to a number of risks:

Investment rate risk
The Scheme holds investments in asset dasses, such as equities, which have volatile market values. While assets are expected to provide real returns over

the long term, the short term volatility can cause additional funding contributions to be required if a deficit emerges.

Interest rate risk
The Scheme's liabllitles are assessed using market yields on high quality corporate bonds to discount the liabilities. As the Scheme holds assets such as

equities, the value of the assets and liabilities may not move in the same way.

Inflation risk
A significant proportion of the benefits under the Scheme are iinked to inflation. Although the Scheme's assets are expected to provide a good hedge

against Inflation over the long term, adverse movements over the short term could lead to deficits emerging.

Life expectancy risk
In the event that members live longer than assumed a deficit will emerge in the Scheme.
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24. Employee benefits {continued)
There were no scheme amendments, curtailments or settlements during the year.

Amounts recognised on the balance sheet were as follows:

Fair value of scheme assets
Present value of funded obligation

Net defined benefit (deficit)/surplus

Amounts recognised in the income statement over the year were as follows:

Interest expense on defined benefit obligation
Interest income on scheme assets
Administration expenses

Expenses recognised In the income statement

Measurements over the year recognised in the income statement were as follows:

Effect of changes in demographic assumptions
Effect of changes in financial assumptions

Effect of experience adjustments

Return on scheme asset (excluding interest [ncome)

Total

Changes in the assets over the year were as follows:

Fair value of scheme assets at 1 January

Interest income

Employer contributions

Benefits paid

Administration expenses

Return on scheme assets {exduding interest income}

Falr value of scheme assets at 31 December

Present vaiue of obligation at 31 December:

Defined benefit ohligation at the beginning of the year
Benefits paid

Interest cost on scheme liabilities

Effects of changes In demographic assumptions
Effects of changes in financial assumptions

Effects of experience adjustments

Defined benefit obligation at the end of the year

Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Limited

2022 2021
£000 £000
21,090 31,228
(20,279) (31,772)
811 (544)
2022 2021
£000 £000
623 478
(619) (458)
S60 681
S64 701
2022 2021
£000 £000
(199) (35)
(12,097) (1,742)
1,469 13
9,658 591
{1,169) (1,173)
2022 2021
£000 £000
31,228 33,411
619 458
750 744
(1,288) (2,113)
(560) (681)
(9,658) {591)
. 21,080 31,228
2022 2021
£000 £000
(33,772) {35,170)
1,288 2,113
{623) (478)
189 35
12,097 1,742
(1,468) (14)
{20,279) (31,772)

56



Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the financial statements {continued)
24. Employee benefits (continued)

The analysis of the scheme assets at the balance sheet date were as follows:

Value at 31 Value at 31

December 2022  December 2021

£000 £000

Hedge funds 1,580 2,693
Diversified growth 8,083 11,559
Dynamic Liability Driven investment (LD1) 10,912 14,638
Cash/other 515 2,338
21,080 31,228

Fair value of scheme assets

Scheme assets do not include any of the company’s own equlty instruments, any property occupied by the company, or any other assets used by the

company. All scheme assets are unquoted.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation was measured using the projected unit credit method and were as follows:

2022
Valuation method Projected unit
Discount rate 4.8%
Inflation rate
-RPI 3.1%
-CcP) 2.5%
Increases to pensions:
- April 1997 — September 2005 (LP) 5%) 2.9%
- post October 2005 (LPl 2.5%) 2.5%

s

Salary Increases

2021
Projected unit
2.0%

3.2%
2.6%

3.1%
2.2%

Salary Increases in the above table are shown as nil for 2022 due to the scheme being closed in 2011 and so there was no further expectation of any

Increase to be included (2021: Nil).

Mortality rates

The mortality assumptions are in line with the S3NXA (Vear of Birth) mortality tables with a 100% rating. Future mortality adjustments are assumed to be

In line with CMI 2020 projections, with a fong term annual rate of improvement of 1.25% (2021: 1.25%) for both males and females.

The mortality assumptions used were as follows:

2022
Years
Longevity at age 65 current pensioners:
- Men 223
-Women 24.7
Longevity at age 65 for future pensioners
- Men 23.6
-Women 26.12

2021
Years

22,6
25.0

23.9
264

Given the considerable uncertainty surrounding future rates of mortality, actual life expectancy for scheme members could be materially different from

the assumptions adopted.
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24. Employee benefits (continued)

Sensitivity of the value placed on liabllities

To prepare the valuation, assumptions are used in a forward looking financial and demographic model to present a single scenario from a wide range of
possibilities. The future Is uncertaln and the Scheme's actual experience will differ from those assumptions; these differences may be significant or
material because these results are very sensitive to the assumptions made and, In some cases, to the interaction between the assumptions.

Different assumptions or scenarios within the range of possibilities may also be reasonable and results based on those assumptions would be different. As
a result of the uncertainty Inherent in a forward looking projection over a very long period of time, no one projection is uniquely 'correct’ and many
alternative projections of the future could also be regarded as reasonable. A 'sensitivity analysis' shows the degree to which results would be different if
you substitute alternative assumptions within the range of possibilities for those utilized in this report.

An Indication of the sensitivity of the results to changes in the most material assumptions ks detailed below. The methods and assumptions used in
preparing the sensitivity analysis have been consistently applied.

Impact on defined benefit obligation:
2022 2021
Changein  Netincrease / Net increase /
assumptions {decrease) {decrease)
Discount rate sensitivity
- With decrease in discount rate -50bp 1,545 3,125
- With increase in discount rate +50bp {1,420) (2,676)
Indexation for retirees / beneficlaries sensitivities
- With indexatlon rate decrease for retirees / beneficiaries -50bp (659) {2,300)
- With indexation rate increase for retirees / beneficiaries +50bp 681 1,343
Mortality sensitivities
1yearlonger 512 1,092

- With increased life expectancy

Breakdown of the present value of the 31 December 2022 1AS 19 obligation by the maturity of the underlying payments (allowing for new

retirements)
The table below shows an approximate breakdown of the present value of the defined benefit obligation by the maturity of the underlying payments. it

uses the current pensioner payroll with future expected inflation increases discounted back using the discount rate.

£000

Less than one year 1,280
Between two and five years 3,655
Greater than five years , 15,344
20,279

Effect of the scheme on the company’s future cash flows

An actuarial valuation of the Scheme must be carried out at least once every three years. Following each such valuation, the Company is required to agree
a Schedule of Contributions with the Trustees of the Scheme. The last valuation of the Scheme was carried out as at 30 September 2020 and resulted in a

reductlon In the pension liability of £0.6m.
in respect of the Final Salary Section of the Scheme, the Company does not expect to pay any additional contributions in the year to 31 December 2022

(2021: £nil).
The welghted average duration of the Defined Benefit Obligation is approximately 14 years.
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25. Related parties

The related parties with which the Company traded during the year or with whom there were outstanding assets or liabilities at the year-end are listed
below. Each of the related parties Is a subsidiary of Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft (VW AG), the ultimate parent company and controlling party, with the
exception of Volkswagen Financial Services Digital Solutions GmbH, which is a Joint venture between Volkswagen Financial Services AG and Volkswagen
Bank GmbH. The number of related parties within the VW AG group is extensive and as a result is too extensive to list here, therefore only those with
whom the Company traded during the year are listed. The full list can be found In the Annual Return of the Company,

Identity of related parties:
Volkswagen AG Konzernteil, 38436 Wolfsburg, Deutschland

Porsche Retall Group Limited, Reading, Berkshire, RG31 75G, UK

Bentley Motors Ltd., Pyms Lane, Crewe, Cheshire, CW1 3PL, UK

Volkswagen Group United Kingdom Ltd., Yeomans Drive, Blakelands, Milton Keynes MK14 5AN, UK
Volkswagen international Luxemburg S.A, 291 Route d'Arion, 1150 Luxembourg

Volkswagen Financial Services AG, Gifhorner StraRe 57, 38112 Braunschweig, Germany

Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Gifhorner StraBe 57, 38112 Braunschwelg, Germany

Volkswagen International Finance N.V., Paleisstraat 1 1012 RB Amsterdam, Netherlands

Volkswagen Group Services S.A,, Woluwedal 18 Sint-Stev-Woluwe 1932, Belglum

Volkswagen Financlal Services N.V., Saturnus 1 NL-3824 ME Amersfoort, Netherlands

Volkswagen Insurance Service Ltd., Brunswick Court, Yeomans Drive, Blakelands, Mitton Keynes, MK14 5LR, UK
Porsche Cars (GB) Limited, Bath Road Calcot Reading RG31 75G, UK

Porsche Financial Services Limited, Bath Road, Calcot, Reading RG31 7SE, UK

Volkswagen Bank GmbH (France), Avenue de la Demi-Lune, 95700 Rolssy-en-France, France

Volkswagen Bank GmbH (Spain), AV. DE BRUSELAS, 34, 28108, ALCOBENDAS, Spain

Volkswagen Bank GmbH (UK), Brunswick Court, Yeomans Drive, Blakelands, Milton Keynes MK14 51K, UK
Volkswagen Financlal Services Ireland, Block C Liffey Valley Office Campus, Dublin 22, D22 CF60, Ireland
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, Gifhorer StraBe 57 38112 Braunschweig Germany

Oriver UK Master S.A. 52-54, Avenue du X Septemkre, 1-2550 Luxembourg

Oriver UK Multicompartment S.A. 52-54, Avenue du X Septembre, L-2550 Luxembourg

Seat S.A., Spain, Catalonla, Barcelona, 08027, Autovia A-2, Km. 585, Martorell (E-08760)

MAN Truck & Bus UK Ltd, Clearwater House, Clear Water Business Park, Frankland Road, Swindon SN5 8YU, UK
Ducati UK Limited, Siiverstone Circuit Silverstone NN12 8GX, UK

MAN Energy Solutions UK Ltd, Stockport, Cheshire SK7 SBP, UK

Scania Finance, Atterbury, Milton Keynes MK10 9RG, UK

Scania GB Limited, Delaware Drive, Tongwell, Milton Keynes MK15 8HB, UK

Volkswagen Financial Services Digital Solutions GmbH, Gifhorner Strasse 57, 38112 Braunschweig, Germany
Volkswagen D’leteren Finance, Rue du Mail 50, 1050 Bruxelles, Beigium

Automobili Lamborghin! S.p.A., [-40019 Sant' Agata Bolognese, Italy

Volkswagen Group of America, 2200 Woodland Pointe Avenue Herndon, VA 20171, United States
Volkswagen Renting, Unipessoal, Lda., Estr. de Alfragide - Alfrapark Nr. 67 Edificio G Alfragide 2614-519 AMADORA. Portugal

The Company has taken the advantage of the disclosure exemption under FRS 101 paragraph 8{k) for disclosure of related party transactions entered into
between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is a party of the transaction is wholly owned by such member.

Amounts receivable from related parties at the year end, which the Company expects to be settled in cash, were as follows:

Amounts due from fellow group affiliates

2022 2021
£000 £000
- Parent ’ -
- Other related partles 1,171,200 1,155,062
Total 1,171,200 1,155,061
l——

Other related parties Includes a balance of £1,111m of subordinated notes repurchased during 2022 (2021: £1,072m), see note 19 for further details.
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25. Related parties (continued)

Amounts payable to related parties at the year end, which the Company expects to be settled in cash were as follows:

Trode and other payables

2022 2021
£000 £000
Trade and other payables 117,458 52,657
Of which:
Due to the parent 10,698 .. -
The balance includes IT recharges and debt factoring with group companles.
Loan amounts due to fellow group affillates
2022 2021
£000 £000
Current liabilities 2,445,984 3,057,212
Non-current liabilities 13,309,365 12,317,129

The current loan amount due to VIS Limited as at 31 December 2022 was £2.6m (2021: £2.2m).

The amounts due to fellow group affiliates consist of loan balances with wholly owned subsidiaries of Volkswagen AG and are interest bearing with rates
ranging between 0.13% and 7.14%. All amounts due to fellow group affiliates are unsecured. No amounts were due to the parent or ultimate parent.

Dividends recelved
There were no dividends received in the year {2021: nil).

Other Related Partles
Guarontees

During the year, Volkswagen Financial Services AG has provided a guarantee to the landiord of One Delaware Drive for the rent payable over the period of
the lease.
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26. Leases

This note provides information for leases where the Company Is a lessee. For leases where the Company is a lessor, see note 12.

Amounts recognised In the balance sheet related to leases

2022 2021
£000 £000
Right-of-use assets
Bulldings 32,025 33,927
———————
Lease liabilities
Current 1,490 1,436
Non-current 31,485 33,201
32,975 34,637
The total future cash outflow is £44.6m {2021: £47.4m),
Amount recognised in the Income statement
The income statement shows the following amounts relating to leases:
2022 2021
£000 £000
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets (1,502) (1,969}
{1,271} (1,244)

Interest expense (included in finance cost)

The total charge for the year for leases In 2022 was £2.7m (2021: £2.7m).

The Company leases 1 office. Rental contracts are made for fixed periods. There are no extenslon options.
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27. Ultimate parent company and parent company of larger group

The Combany’s immediate parent undertaking is Volkswagen Finance Overseas B.V. Volkswagen Finance Overseas B.V. is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Volkswagen Financial Services AG the smallest group to consolidate these financial statements.

The ultimate parent undertaking and ultimate controlling party by virtue of shareholdings remained as Volkswagen AG, a company incorporated in
Germany. Volkswagen AG is the parent undertaking of the largest group to consolidate these financial statements. Copies of the uitimate and immediate
parent's consolidated financial statements may be obtained from the offices of:

Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft Finanz
Publizitét und Statistik

D-38436 Wolfsburg

Germany

Volks;vagen AG, Wotfsburg, is the sole shareholder of VW Bank GmbH and Volkswagen Financlal Services AG. Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart,
owned the majority of the voting shares In Volkswagen AG as at the balance sheet date. The extraordinary Annual General Meeting of Volkswagen AG on
3 December 2009 resolved to give the German state of Lower Saxony the right to appoint board members. Hence Porsche SE can na longer eppoint the
maJority of the members of Volkswagen AG's Supervisory Board as long as the state of Lower Saxony is holding at least 15% of the ordinary shares.
However, Porsche SE has the opportunity to participate in the Volkswagen Group's corporate decision making.
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28. Contingent liabilities

- -2 The following information is provided in respect of the remaining civil procedings formally issued in the courts of England & Wales, and Northern Irefand, - -

agalnst VWFS in respect vehicles containing EA189 engines. It is not apparent what sums will be either daimed and/or ultimately awarded, if any, in the
event VWFS Is found liable, nor what costs are likely to be Incurred by VWFS In defending such proceedings. As such, it is not practicable to provide an
estimate of the financial effect of any proceedings In respect of the NOx Issue. VWFS disputes the allegations being made and continues to vigorously
defend this litigation. VWFS believes there are good defences to the claims as it understands them.

In respect of the threatened claims in England & Wales relating to certain other diesel vehicles leased or sold in England, Wales and Northem Ireland slnce
2009 which contain various diesel engine types, such claims remaln uncertain in scope at present,
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